University of Alberta

The Role of ABCA1 in tyrHDL-mediated Enhancement of Cholesterol Mobilization

by

Sereyrath Ngeth

 (\mathbf{C})

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Biochemistry

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22334-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22334-5

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Abstract

Tyrosyl radical-oxidized high density lipoprotein (tyrHDL) has an enhanced ability to stimulate the mobilization of cellular cholesterol for efflux for the formation of HDL particles, and to reduce atherosclerosis in an animal model. ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) promotes the release of excess cellular cholesterol in the process of forming HDL particles. We postulated that tyrHDL enhances the mobilization of cellular lipids for HDL formation by enhancing the expression or activity of ABCA1.

TyrHDL requires the presence of functional ABCA1 to enhance mobilization of cholesterol from cells. Furthermore, tyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein in human aortic smooth muscle cells and human skin fibroblasts, suggesting a potential role in the stabilization of ABCA1 from proteolysis. As well, tyrHDL directly cross-links to ABCA1, and its activity requires the actions of the liver X receptor. Hence, tyrHDL has therapeutic implications for the prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Gordon Francis for accepting me into graduate studies and for his guidance throughout the years. You have given me a valuable life experience that will serve me well in my future journeys.

I would like to thank my supervisory committee members Dr. Dennis Vance and Dr. Michael Schultz as well as my external examinee Dr. Richard Lehner for their support throughout my graduate program.

Thank you to Dr. David Mangelsdorf, University of Texas Southwestern, for providing the LXR double knockout mouse tissues.

Much thanks must be given to Teddy Chan for outstanding technical support, for training me in the lab, and for introducing me to the wonderful world of golf! I would also like to thank Dr. Hong Choi, Dr. Emma Waddington, Diana Lee, and Dr. Emmanuel Boadu for their helpful comments, conversations, and insights.

Thank you to the MCBL group, and to the members of the MCBL group for your support and friendship.

I dedicate this to my Mother, Maly Korn

Who was always there at key moments in my life, who never stopped believing in me, and who always pointed me in the right direction. Thank you for giving me a future, for your support and guidance, and most importantly, for your strength. I would also like to dedicate this to my family. We have come far from where we were, but sometimes it is the journey and not the destination that shapes who we are. I am glad to have taken this journey with you all.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1 1 INTRODUCTION TO CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE	
1.1.1 Global burden of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease	2
1.2 Atherogenesis	3
1.2.1 Structure of the artery wall	3
1.2.2 The atherosclerotic lesion: formation and progression	4
1.3 LIPOPROTEIN STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION	5
1.3.1 Introduction to lipoproteins	5
1.3.2 Structure and biochemical composition of HDL	7
1.3.3 Intravascular remodeling of HDL	8
1.3.4 Transport of cholesterol to peripheral tissues	9
1.4 Physiological functions of HDL	. 10
1.4.1 Epidemiologic evidence for the protective action of HDL	10
1.4.2 Cardioprotective actions of HDL	11
1.4.3 Reverse cholesterol transport and HDL formation	11
1.4.4 Protection of HDL against atherosclerosis and potential methods to raise	
HDL clinically	13
1.5 ABCA1-DEPENDENT LIPID EFFLUX IN REVERSE CHOLESTEROL TRANSPORT	. 15
1.5.1 Introduction to ABCA1	15
1.5.2 Role of ABCAI in apoA-I-mediated cholesterol efflux	16
1.5.3 Interactions between apoA-I and ABCA1	17
1.5.4 Protection by apoA-I against calpain-dependent proteolysis of ABCA1	20
1.5.5 Additional mechanisms of cholesterol efflux to HDL	21
1.6 REGULATION OF CHOLESTEROL EFFLUX BY THE LIVER X RECEPTOR	. 22
by LXR	22
1.7 OXIDIZED LIPOPROTEINS IN ATHEROSCLEROSIS	. 23
1.7.1 Introduction to lipoprotein oxidation	23
1.7.2 Role of oxidized HDL in cholesterol efflux	27
1.7.3 Role of tyrosyl radical-oxidized HDL in cholesterol efflux and	
atherosclerosis	28
1.7.3.I Tyrosyl radical oxidation of HDL enhances cholesterol removal from	
cultured cells	. 29
1.7.3.II TyrHDL increases the availability of cholesterol for new HDL particle	
formation	. 32

1.7.3.III Administration of tyrHDL increases plasma HDL-C and inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice	. 33
1.7.3 IV Enhanced cholesterol mobilization by tyrHDL is mediated by	
apoA-I-A-II heterodimers	. 35
1.8 Hypothesis and specific aims	. 36
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 38
2.1 MATERIALS	. 39
2.2 Methods	. 39
2.2.1 Preparation of lipoproteins and apoA-I	. 39
2.2.3 Trypsinization of HDL and tyrHDL	. 40
2.2.4 Cell culture	. 41
2.2.5 Cholesterol esterification assay	. 42
2.2.6 Reverse transcriptase-PCR analysis of ABCA1 mRNA	. 43
2.2.7 Western blot analysis of ABCA1 Protein	. 43
2.2.8 Measurement of total and cell surface ABCA1	. 44
2.2.9 Cross-linking of apoA-I, HDL or tyrHDL to ABCA1	. 45
2.2.10 Cell surface binding of intact and trypsinized HDL and tyrHDL	. 46
CULDTED 2. DECULTS	19
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	. 40
3.1 TYROSYLATED HDL REQUIRES ABCA1 TO FUNCTION	. 49
3.2 EFFECT OF TYROSYLATED HDL ON ABCA1 MRNA AND PROTEIN LEVELS	. 50
3.3 TYROSYLATED HDL REQUIRES LXR TO FUNCTION	. 54
3.4 TYROSYLATED HDL STABILIZES ABCA1 PROTEIN LEVELS MUCH LIKE APOA-I	. 56
3.5 Possible Effects of tyrHDL on cell surface ABCA1 expression	. 57
3.6 TYROSYLATED HDL DIRECTLY CROSS-LINKS TO ABCA1	. 59
3.7 TYROSYLATED HDL DEPLETES CELLULAR CHOLESTEROL MUCH LIKE APOA-I	. 61
3.8 FURTHER WORK DONE IN OUR LABORATORY	. 63
3.8.1 Protein fragments of tyrHDL can effectively mobilize cholesterol for efflux.	. 63
3.8.2 Trypsinized tyrHDL do not bind to fibroblasts	. 64
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	. 66

	CES75
--	-------

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Layers of the artery wall	4
Figure 1.2: Structure of a typical lipoprotein particle	6
Figure 1.3: Receptor-mediated endocytosis of LDL	9
Figure 1.4: A simplified model of reverse cholesterol transport	. 12
Figure 1.5: Current topological model of ABCA1	. 16
Figure 1.6: Proposed models for ABCA1-mediated lipid efflux to apoA-I	. 18
Figure 1.7: Mechanisms of LDL oxidation	. 24
Figure 1.8: Products of peroxidase-mediated tyrosine oxidation	. 26
Figure 1.9: Model for tyrosyl radical generation in vivo	. 27
Figure 1.10: Oligomerization of free apoA-I and apoA-II by tyrosyl radical but not by	
copper ion	. 29
Figure 1.11: Cholesterol esterification and synthesis in fibroblasts incubated	
with tyrHDL	30
Figure 1.12: Cholesterol mass in fibroblasts coincubated with LDL and tyrHDL	31
Figure 1.13: Time course of cholesteryl ester turnover and cholesterol efflux from	
cholesterol-loaded fibroblasts exposed to tyrHDL	32
Figure 1.14: Atherosclerotic lesion areas in aortas from apoE-deficient mice injected	
with saline or treated with control HDL or tyrHDL for 8 weeks	.34
Figure 1.15: Reduction in cholesterol esterification by protein and lipid components of	•
tyrHDL	35
Figure 3.1: Absence of enhanced cholesterol mobilization by tyrHDL from Tangier	
disease fibroblasts	50
Figure 3.2: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 mRNA in human aortic smooth muscle cells	51
Figure 3.3: The effects of tyrHDL on ABCA1 mRNA in human skin fibroblasts	52
Figure 3.4: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein in human aortic smooth muscle cells	53
Figure 3.5: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein in human skin fibroblasts	54
Figure 3.6: TyrHDL activity requires the presence of LXR	56
Figure 3.7: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein expression much like apoA-I in human	
skin fibroblasts	57
Figure 3.8: Total and cell surface expression of ABCA1 from human skin fibroblasts	
treated with tyrHDL	58
Figure 3.9: TyrHDL cross-links with ABCA1	60
Figure 3.10: Formation of HDL particle species following pretreatment with tyrHDL	62
Figure 3.11: Full retention of cholesterol removal capacity by trypsinized tyrHDL	63
Figure 3.12: Binding of intact and trypsinized tyrHDL to human skin fibroblasts	65
Figure 4.1. Models for the interaction of apoA-I, HDL, tyrHDL and trypsinized HDL	
with ABCA1	72

List of Abbreviations

ATP-binding cassette transporter A1
ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 knockout
ATP-binding cassette transporter G1
acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase
apolipoprotein A-I
apolipoprotein A-II
apolipoprotein B
apolipoprotein E
apolipoprotein E knock out
essentially fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin
coronary artery disease
complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
cholesteryl esters
cholesteryl ester transfer protein
cardiovascular disease
Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMEM containing 1 mg/ml BSA
deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
dithiobis(succinimidyl propionate)
diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid
ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
fetal bovine serum
free cholesterol
hours
human aortic smooth muscle cells
high density lipoproteins
high density lipoprotein cholesterol
horseradish peroxidase
human skin fibroblasts

IDL	intermediate density lipoproteins
JAK 2	Janus kinase 2
LCAT	lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase
LDL	low density lipoproteins
LDL-C	low density lipoprotein cholesterol
LDLr	low density lipoprotein receptor
LDLr-KO	low density lipoprotein receptor knockout
LPL	lipoprotein lipase
LXR	liver X receptor
min	minutes
MPO	myeloperoxidase
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MSF	mouse skin fibroblasts
NO	nitric oxide
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PBS/BSA	PBS containing 1 mg/ml BSA
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDI	protein disulfide isomerase
PEST	sequence of ABCA1 rich in proline, glutamate, serine, threonine
РКА	protein kinase A
РКС	protein kinase C
PL	phospholipids
PLTP	phospholipid transfer protein
PM	plasma membrane
PS	phosphatidylserine
RIPA	radio-immunoprecipitation assay
RCT	reverse cholesterol transport
RXR	retinoid X receptor
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SR-BI	scavenger receptor class B, type I
TAG	triacylglycerols

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TBS/T	TBS containing 0.1% Tween 20
tyrHDL	tyrosyl radical-oxidized HDL or tyrosylated HDL
VLDL	very low density lipoproteins

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Diseases related to atherosclerosis such as heart attack and stroke are the leading cause of death worldwide. Increased plasma levels of the high density lipoproteins (HDL) are protective against the development of atherosclerosis. Hence, novel methods to increase HDL formation for the treatment and prevention of atherosclerosis would greatly benefit all at large. The main anti-atherogenic property of HDL is believed to be its involvement in the transport of excess cholesterol from tissues including the artery wall to the liver to be excreted into bile. It was shown that the protein ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1), found on the surface of most cells, mediates active transport of phospholipids and cholesterol out of cells upon interaction with the major protein of HDL, apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I). This process generates new HDL particles. Modification of HDL by tyrosyl radical (tyrosylated HDL or tyrHDL) has also been shown to markedly increase the ability of HDL particles to remove cholesterol from cells and increase HDL formation when compared to native HDL particles. This effect is absent in cells lacking functional ABCA1, indicating at least the requirement of ABCA1 for the action of tyrHDL. We have demonstrated that tyrHDL, like apoA-I, increases the level of ABCA1 protein in cells. The activity of tyrHDL seems to depend on the liver X receptor pathway, a transcription factor responsible for the transcription of genes involved in cholesterol homeostasis. Also like apoA-I, but unlike HDL, tyrHDL is capable of being cross-linked to ABCA1, suggesting a direct tyrHDL-ABCA1 interaction. Additional studies using protein fragments of tyrHDL suggest, however, that a direct binding interaction between tyrHDL and ABCA1 may not be necessary for tyrHDL to enhance the activity of ABCA1 in cells. The ability of tyrHDL to enhance the activity of ABCA1 demonstrated by these studies may suggest important new ways to increase the formation of HDL for the prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis.

1.1 Introduction to cardiovascular disease

1.1.1 Global burden of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease

Coronary artery disease (CAD) as a consequence of atherosclerosis (hardening of the arteries) is the leading cause of death in the developed and developing countries (1). It was estimated that in 1996, 29% of the world's deaths could be attributed to cardiovascular disease and that half of these deaths were due to atherosclerosis of the

coronary arteries (2). Major risk factors for the development of CAD include age, dyslipidemia, diabetes mellitus, smoking, hypertension, and genetic factors that predispose to some of these other major predictors. With respect to dyslipidemia, much attention is given to the plasma levels of low density lipoprotein (LDL) and HDL particles. A high plasma level of LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) is proatherogenic, whereas individuals with high HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) are protected against atherosclerosis. The very strong relationship between elevated HDL-C levels and protection against atherosclerotic vascular disease suggests an increased understanding of HDL formation and metabolism is critical to our ability to reduce lives lost or impaired as well as the treatment costs incurred by atherosclerosis.

1.2 Atherogenesis

1.2.1 Structure of the artery wall

The artery wall is made up of three distinct layers (Figure 1.1) (3). The intimal layer lies just beneath the endothelial cells that line the artery wall. Under normal circumstances, the intima is acellular and contains primarily connective tissue including the internal elastic lamina. Beneath the intima is the medial layer. The medial layer consists of smooth muscle cells as the primary cell type, collagen, and fibroelastic connective tissue. Smooth muscle cells are responsible for regulating the size of the lumen of the artery wall upon contraction or relaxation. The outermost layer of the artery wall is termed the adventitia, the artery wall coat consisting of dense fibroelastic tissue that merges with nearby connective tissue.



Figure 1.1: Layers of the artery wall. The endothelium (A) is in contact with the blood and overlies the intima (B). Beneath this is the media (C), consisting of layers of smooth muscle cells. Underneath the media is the adventitia (D). The figure was adapted from Ross, R. by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Nature] (3), copyright (1993) with permission.

1.2.2 The atherosclerotic lesion: formation and progression

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

It is hypothesized that atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease initiated by endothelial injury or dysfunction (4). Endothelial injury can occur from a variety of causes, including elevated cholesterol levels, elevated blood sugar in diabetes, high blood pressure, free radicals and other toxins in cigarette smoke, elevated homocysteine levels, and possibly infectious causes including herpesviruses or *Chlamydia pneumoniae* (5). If injury to the endothelium occurs unabated, this process will result in an advanced, complicated atherosclerotic lesion. The endothelium responds to injury by increasing its expression of cell adhesion molecules and permeability to surrounding platelets and leukocytes, and by releasing vasoactive molecules, cytokines, and growth factors that attract nearby inflammatory cells. These cells, primarily monocytes and some Tlymphocytes and neutrophils, then migrate through the endothelium into the intimal space. The inflammatory reaction also stimulates migration and proliferation of smooth muscle cells from the media to the intimal layer. Monocytes and macrophages in the intimal space release more pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, exacerbating the inflammatory response and lesion formation. As a result, massive amounts of monocytes and T-lymphocytes migrate from the blood and multiply within the lesion. Activation of these cells leads to release of hydrolytic enzymes and chemotactic molecules that induce further damage and attract more proinflammatory cells, creating a cycle of inflammation and lesion infiltration (3, 6).

Increased LDL-C is associated with atherosclerosis. The increased permeability of the damaged endothelium allows LDL to easily cross into the intimal layer. In addition, LDL-C present in high levels in plasma might also traverse the endothelial layer and accumulate in the artery wall even in the absence of significant endothelial damage. LDL can become trapped in the intimal layer due to binding of positively charged lysine and arginine residues on apoprotein B100, the major protein of LDL, by negatively charged proteoglycans in the intimal space. When LDL particles become trapped, they undergo progressive oxidation and/or aggregation, followed by internalization by surrounding macrophages and smooth muscle cells expressing scavenger receptors. This forces the macrophages and smooth muscle cells to esterify the excess LDL-derived cholesterol, facilitating the massive accumulation of cholesteryl esters (CE) resulting in the formation of fatty streaks and foam cells (5). This process of sequestration and removal of oxidized LDL is initially a protective mechanism against lesion formation; however, once CE accumulate beyond the macrophage's ability to metabolize the cholesterol, the atheroma enlarges and protrudes into the lumen of the artery, altering blood flow. CE-rich plaques are unstable, and even lesions occluding as little as 20% of the artery lumen can rupture, leading to thrombus formation on the ruptured plaque and potential complete sudden occlusion of the artery resulting in a myocardial infarction (heart attack) or stroke.

1.3 Lipoprotein structure and function

1.3.1 Introduction to lipoproteins

Cholesterol and triacylglycerols (TAG) are water insoluble lipids that are solubilized for transport in plasma by way of lipoprotein particles. These lipids are packaged into complexes with water-soluble proteins known as apoproteins (also known as apolipoproteins or apos). Delivery and secretion of cholesterol and TAG require a combination of synthesis, catabolism, and remodeling between lipoprotein particles, enzymes, and cellular proteins. There are unique classes of lipoprotein particles; however, all of them have common structural features (**Figure 1.2**). Lipoprotein particles consist of a neutral lipid core rich in CE and/or TAG, with a monolayer of phospholipids (PL), free (unesterified) cholesterol (FC), and apoproteins surrounding the neutral lipid core. The amphipathic nature of the apoproteins allows their polar surface to be exposed to the aqueous plasma whereas the hydrophobic surface faces the inner core. In addition, most apoproteins are exchangeable in the sense they are able to dissociate from the lipoprotein surface, relative to their degree of lipid affinity, to be free in plasma or to associate with other lipoproteins. The exception is the very large and hydrophobic apoprotein B (apoB), which remains bound to its lipoprotein surface.



Figure 1.2: Structure of a typical lipoprotein particle. The outer monolayer consists of amphipathic phospholipids and free cholesterol. The hydrophobic core can be composed of TAG and/or CE. Apoproteins embedded in the outer coat help to solubilize the particle in the plasma. The figure was obtained from Grundy, S.M. (7).

Lipoproteins are classified broadly based on their density. The largest and least dense are chylomicrons, which have the highest concentration of TAG, and contain apos A-I, B48, C, and E in the shell of the particle. Chylomicrons are synthesized and secreted

by the small intestine after dietary lipids and intestinal cholesterol are digested, absorbed and repackaged by enterocytes. The next largest lipoproteins are very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), which are also rich in TAG and contain a single molecule of apoB100 as their major structural apoprotein. VLDL are synthesized and secreted by the liver, and circulate within the bloodstream where their TAG are digested by lipoprotein lipase (LPL), situated in highest concentrations in endothelial cells of capillaries overlying adipose tissue, and cardiac and skeletal muscle. Digestion of VLDL TAG provides these tissues with necessary fatty acids for storage or immediate sources of energy. The products of VLDL catabolism are the intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), also known as VLDL remnants, followed by LDL. LDL are the most cholesterolrich particles in the bloodstream. Delivery of cholesterol to peripheral (non-hepatic) tissues is mediated mainly by LDL particles, through uptake by the LDL receptor (LDLr). The final and most dense class of lipoprotein particles are the HDL. The density of HDL particles range from 1.063 to 1.21 g/mL, contain mostly CE in their core, and have apos A-I and A-II as their primary structural apoproteins. HDL play a major role in the transport of excess cholesterol from the periphery to the liver (8).

1.3.2 Structure and biochemical composition of HDL

ApoA-I is the major apoprotein of HDL (1-4 copies per particle), making up ~70 percent of the total protein content on HDL (9). ApoA-I is a 243 amino acid amphipathic protein, containing 10 α -helical domains, produced and secreted by the intestine and the liver (10). ApoA-II is a 77 amino acid protein, also amphipathic and containing 3 α -helical domains, produced and secreted by the liver (11, 12). In addition to apoA-I and A-II, HDL particles may also contain other exchangeable apoproteins including apoA-IV, A-V, C-I, C-II, C-III, D, J, L and E as secondary apoproteins (13). HDL also carry plasma proteins involved in modulation of HDL lipid content, including lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT), cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP), and phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) (8). ApoA-I exists in three forms in plasma: as a lipid-poor protein, in discoidal HDL, and in spherical HDL (14). On agarose gel electrophoresis, which separates lipoproteins based on particle charge, α -migrating HDL particles are typically spherical and contain two or more molecules of apoA-I plus PL,

FC, CE and TAG and account for the major proportion of HDL in plasma, which include HDL_2 (1.063<density<1.125 g/mL) and HDL_3 (1.125<density<1.21 g/mL). Pre- β migrating HDL particles are either lipid-poor apoA-I or discoidal particles consisting of two or three molecules of apoA-I complexed with a bilayer of PL and possibly small amounts of FC (8).

1.3.3 Intravascular remodeling of HDL

HDL is remodeled within the plasma compartment by a complex interplay with plasma enzymes and proteins responsible for the esterification of cholesterol on HDL, and the transfer or exchange of different lipid species between lipoprotein particles. The major apoprotein of HDL, apoA-I, is primarily synthesized in the liver. Liver apoA-I is secreted as lipid-free/poor apoA-I or as discoidal nascent HDL particles made up of poorly lipidated apoA-I that has received some lipids upon the initial interaction with liver ABCA1. These nascent HDL particles then travel to the periphery to pick up excess cholesterol from peripheral tissue (expanded on in detail in section 1.4.3). LCAT plays an important role in the maturation of nascent HDL particles as it catalyzes the esterification of FC on the surface of HDL, with CE moving to the core of the particle to generate spherical HDL particles. The action of LCAT maintains a low concentration of FC on the HDL particle surface, allowing additional peripheral cell surface cholesterol to flow down a concentration gradient to the HDL surface (15). The activity of LCAT is crucial for HDL maturation; genetic LCAT deficiency syndromes are associated with markedly reduced HDL-C and apoA-I levels because smaller, discoidal HDL are cleared much more rapidly from the circulation (16). CETP promotes the transfer of CE from HDL in exchange for TAG from apoB-containing lipoproteins (LDL, IDL, VLDL, and chylomicrons) (17). TAG enrichment of HDL by CETP may improve the catabolism of HDL by hepatic lipase, which hydrolyzes HDL TAG and PL, generating smaller HDL₃ particles and free apoA-I that can then recirculate in further rounds of tissue cholesterol removal (18). CETP-deficient patients have markedly elevated levels of HDL-C (19) and reduced turnover of apoA-I (20), with net effects on atherosclerosis reported to be either positive (21) or negative (22, 23). PLTP transfers surface PL from TAG-rich lipoproteins to HDL during TAG lipolysis by LPL (24). The net role of hepatic lipase in modulating

atherogenic risk remains controversial. It is thought that hepatic lipase activity is inversely correlated with the development of atherosclerosis (25), however some studies suggest that hepatic lipase expression is proatherogenic (26, 27).

1.3.4 Transport of cholesterol to peripheral tissues

Cholesterol is a vital component of cellular membranes and is the precursor for bioactive molecules such as steroid hormones, bile acids, oxysterols, and vitamin D. Cells can synthesize their own cholesterol endogenously, or acquire it via LDL uptake. LDL cholesterol is derived from VLDL secreted by the liver, or tissue cholesterol delivered to LDL from HDL by the actions of CETP. LDL is taken up by tissues via receptor-mediated endocytosis (**Figure 1.3**).



Figure 1.3: Receptor-mediated endocytosis of LDL. LDL particles bind to LDL receptors clustered in clathrin-coated pits. The receptor-LDL complex is internalized in coated vesicles. The LDL particles are delivered to lysosomes where apoB is digested and CE are hydrolyzed, releasing cholesterol for subsequent diverse intracellular actions. The figure was obtained from Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (28) with permission.

In this pathway, apoB of LDL particles binds to the LDLr expressed on the surface of cells, and the whole particle is endocytosed and transported to lysosomes for degradation. Excess FC derived from LDL is converted in the endoplasmic reticulum to CE by acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) (Figure 1.3). ACAT thus converts FC into nontoxic cytoplasmic CE droplets. Increased cellular cholesterol also downregulates new cholesterol synthesis and further LDL uptake by cholesterol- and oxysterol-dependent

inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase and LDLr expression (**Figure 1.3**) (29). In this way, the regulation of cholesterol synthesis and influx is tightly controlled to prevent against cholesterol toxicity.

1.4 Physiological functions of HDL

1.4.1 Epidemiologic evidence for the protective action of HDL

Numerous observational and epidemiological trials have shown that high plasma HDL-C levels are protective against atherosclerosis. The recent INTERHEART study of the major predictors of first myocardial infarction worldwide identified the ratio of apoB to apoA-I as the strongest predictor of risk for coronary heart disease (30). This ratio can be interpreted as indicating the balance of influx of cholesterol to the artery wall from apoB-containing lipoproteins (LDL, VLDL and chylomicrons and their remnants), and removal of this cholesterol by apoA-I-containing particles (HDL). Earlier studies including the Framingham Heart Study, the Prospective Cardiovascular Munster study, the Helsinki Heart Study, the Veterans Affairs High Density Lipoprotein Trial, and the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial had all found plasma HDL-C levels to be a stronger predictor of the development of CAD than LDL levels (31-33). In the Framingham Heart Study, patients free of any apparent cardiovascular disease (CVD) were enrolled and their lipid parameters measured. Those who had the highest HDL-C levels at study enrollment had the lowest risk of developing CAD during the next 35 years of study (34). The association of HDL-C with CVD was noted at all levels of total cholesterol or LDL-C. In addition, further analysis of the Framingham, the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial, the Lipid Research Clinics Prevalence Mortality Follow-up Study, and the Coronary Primary Prevention Trial that adjusted for age, blood pressure, smoking, body mass index and LDL-C, showed a consistent and strong inverse relationship between HDL-C levels and CAD event rate (32).

One criticism of clinical studies involving the pharmacological manipulation of plasma HDL levels is that drugs used to raise HDL-C may also directly decrease LDL-C and lower TAG, thereby confounding the effects of raising HDL-C alone. The Veterans Affairs High Density Lipoprotein Trial using gemfibrozil represented a unique study in that it was the first clinical trial to suggest clinical benefits from pharmacologically

increasing HDL-C and lowering TAG levels without any reduction in LDL-C (31). This is in favor of the theory that there is a clear and consistent inverse relationship between HDL-C and CAD, and that HDL levels are a much stronger predictor of risk for CVD than LDL levels. These large international trials suggested that each 1% (or 1 mg/dL) increase in HDL-C was linked to a 2 to 3% reduction in the development of CAD (32). Although the exact *in vivo* action of HDL for the protection against atherosclerosis is not well understood, these studies suggest raising HDL-C is an important goal for the treatment and prevention of CVD.

1.4.2 Cardioprotective actions of HDL

In vitro evidence suggests several potential cardioprotective actions of HDL. HDL may be protective by hydrolyzing oxidized lipids on LDL via paraoxonase (35), thereby neutralizing the atherogenic effects of oxidized LDL. Paraoxonase is an arylesterase that is transported on HDL particles and is believed to be responsible for cleaving oxidized fatty acids from PL of oxidized LDL, rendering it less atherogenic (35). ApoA-I, the major protein of HDL, may also have antioxidant activity by removing lipid hydroperoxides on LDL and HDL (35, 36). HDL has also been shown to have antiinflammatory properties by inhibiting the expression of the endothelial cell adhesion molecules VCAM-1 and ICAM-1, in addition to chemotactic cytokines such as monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (36), thereby inhibiting monocyte recruitment, binding, and migration into the intima that occurs in the early stages of lesion formation. Endothelial dysfunction is characterized by decreased bioavailability of nitric oxide (NO), a potent vasodilator. HDL is also thought to modulate endothelial function by stimulating NO production and inhibiting thrombin-induced platelet aggregation, thereby inducing vasodilation and reducing the risk of thrombosis, respectively (8).

1.4.3 Reverse cholesterol transport and HDL formation

The primary and most widely accepted role of HDL in protecting against atherosclerosis is its ability to promote reverse cholesterol transport (RCT). The RCT pathway was initially proposed by Glomset in 1968 (37). The pathway describes the delivery of cholesterol, which in most cell types cannot be catabolized, from peripheral tissues such as macrophages, foam cells, and atherosclerotic plaques to the liver to be excreted from the body in bile (**Figure 1.4**). ApoA-I secreted by the liver and intestine as lipid-free/poor apoA-I or nascent discoidal (pre- β -migrating) HDL that picked up some lipids by way of liver ABCA1, travel to the periphery and interact in the interstitial (subendothelial) space with the cell surface membrane protein ABCA1 of systemic cells to receive FC and PL. The newly acquired cholesterol is then esterified by LCAT to transform the discoidal HDL into an α -migrating spherical HDL particle.



Figure 1.4: A simplified model of reverse cholesterol transport. The liver secretes lipid-free/poor apoA-I and partially-lipidated apoA-I (discoidal HDL) via liver ABCA1 into the circulation. Peripheral cells such as macrophages in the arterial wall release cholesterol and PL to the cholesterol-poor apoA-I particles via ABCA1, and thus convert them into cholesterol-rich HDL particles. After a series of reactions with LCAT and CETP in the plasma, HDL-cholesterol is delivered back to the liver via the scavenger receptor class B, type I (SR-BI), leaving lipid-poor apoA-I for further cycling in the reverse cholesterol transport pathway. The figure was obtained from Oram, J.F. (38) with permission.

Further remodeling of the HDL particle to progressively larger and more mature spherical HDL complexes occurs by HDL receiving additional cellular cholesterol by non-ABCA1-dependent mechanisms, and by interactions with PLTP and CETP. The cholesterol that is transferred from HDL to apoB-containing lipoproteins by way of

CETP can be transferred back to the liver for recycling via the LDLr or the LDL receptor-related protein, or may once again be taken up by systemic tissues. Delivery of HDL-C to the liver is predominantly mediated by the scavenger receptor class B, type I (SR-BI). Liver SR-BI facilitates the unidirectional selective uptake of HDL CE (39). These CE are thought to be preferentially metabolized into bile acids and eliminated through the gastrointestinal tract, thus completing the RCT pathway (17, 40, 41). This was demonstrated when administration of HDL containing radiolabeled cholesterol to a patient resulted in the preferential shunting of those labeled cholesterol into bile (42).

1.4.4 Protection of HDL against atherosclerosis and potential methods to raise HDL clinically

Prospective epidemiological studies support the hypothesis that high HDL-C levels limit atherosclerosis development. Similarly, in vivo animal studies have provided some of the best evidence for the atheroprotective actions of HDL. Early studies with transgenic mice overexpressing the human apoA-I gene and fed an atherogenic diet yielded increased plasma concentrations of apoA-I and HDL-C, and significant protection of these mice from the development of atherosclerosis (43). Further evidence to support the role of HDL in reducing atherosclerosis was apparent when transgenic mice overexpressing the human apoA-I gene were crossed with apoE-deficient mice, a strain that is highly susceptible to spontaneous atherosclerosis. In this animal model, the levels of HDL-C increased two-fold, which resulted in a significant decrease in development of atherosclerosis (44, 45). Liver-specific expression of human apoA-I in LDLr-deficient mice, another mouse model of atherosclerosis, also reduced the progression of atherosclerosis in mice fed a high cholesterol diet (46). Transgenic apoA-I has also been found to protect against atherosclerosis in rabbits, an animal model mimicking human lipoprotein metabolism more closely than mice. Human apoA-I transgenic rabbits fed a cholesterol-rich diet had significantly higher HDL-C levels and 50% less aortic lesion area and aortic lipid accumulation than the control group despite having similar levels of apoB-containing lipoproteins (47). The effectiveness of HDL in inhibiting atherogenesis was further characterized by injection of cholesterol-fed rabbits with either rabbit apoA-I or HDL plasma fractions. The injections induced marked regression and inhibited the progression of aortic fatty streaks accompanied by decreased lipid deposition in the arterial wall (48-50). Perhaps the most compelling evidence for the protective role of HDL was presented when clinical trials showed that weekly intravenous injections of an apoA-I variant (apoA-I Milano) complexed with PL into human subjects with established CVD dramatically reduced atheroma volume by 4.2% after only five weekly treatments that only raised HDL levels acutely (51). Surprisingly, orally administered apoA-I mimetic peptides containing 18 D-amino acids (D-4F), which are resistant to enzymatic or acid hydrolysis in the digestive tract, markedly reduced atherosclerosis in mouse models without altering plasma cholesterol levels (52). Further studies with peptides as short as 4 amino acids in length (lysine-arginine-glutamate-serine, KRES) but no amphipathic alpha-helical structure have also been shown to reduce atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice (53). These studies increase the potential for peptides mimicking the actions of apoA-I to be developed as novel therapies for the treatment and prevention of atherosclerosis.

Clearly, methods to raise HDL clinically are an attractive target for the prevention of CAD. Currently, strategies to raise HDL include lifestyle modifications such as exercise, smoking cessation, weight control, moderate alcohol intake, and control of diabetes (54). Pharmacologic agents that increase HDL-C include niacin, which inhibits hepatic uptake of apoA-I and increases plasma pre- β HDL levels, as well as fibric acid derivatives, which are peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α agonists that increase expression of apoA-I by the liver (54). The discovery that CETP-deficient patients had markedly raised levels of HDL-C and reduced LDL-C levels (19) has led to the development of drugs that inhibit CETP (55). Perhaps the most suitable candidate as a target for increasing HDL formation is the initial mediator of lipidation of apoA-I and other HDL apoproteins, ABCA1. ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux to apoA-I is now considered to be the rate-limiting step in the RCT pathway, providing a novel target to increase HDL particle formation therapeutically.

1.5 ABCA1-dependent lipid efflux in reverse cholesterol transport

1.5.1 Introduction to ABCA1

Investigations of a rare genetic cause of extremely low HDL levels, Tangier disease, have provided extremely valuable insights into the rate-limiting step of HDL particle formation, and a key predictor of plasma HDL-C levels. Tangier disease is a disorder characterized by low levels of plasma HDL and apoA-I, resulting in the massive accumulation of CE within various tissues including macrophages (56). Early studies in Tangier disease subjects indicated a deficiency of HDL apoproteins largely from a rapid catabolism of apoA-I and apoA-II, rather than a defect in the biosynthesis of those apoproteins (57). Further studies indicated PL (58) and cholesterol (58, 59) efflux to apoA-I and other HDL apoproteins (60) was impaired from Tangier disease cells. These studies suggested efflux of cellular lipids to lipid-poor apoA-I is a critical step in HDL particle formation, and a major determinant of circulating HDL-C levels. The defect in Tangier disease was subsequently identified as mutations in ABCA1 (61-65). ABCA1 is a member of the large superfamily of ABC membrane transporters (66), and is present on the surface of most cells to stimulate the delivery of cell cholesterol and PL to apoA-I and other HDL apoproteins including apoA-II and apoE (38). The critical importance of functional ABCA1 in determining plasma HDL-C levels is suggested by the near-absence of HDL particles in individuals with mutations in both ABCA1 alleles (Tangier disease), and approximately 1/2 normal plasma HDL-C levels in individuals with one functional ABCA1 allele (67, 68). It therefore appears that subsequent steps in the RCT pathway cannot compensate for an initial decrease in ABCA1 activity to normalize HDL-C levels. Tangier disease homozygotes and heterozygotes are consequently at increased risk of developing atherosclerosis (69, 70).

ABCA1 is a 2261-amino acid protein that utilizes ATP energy to transport lipids across membranes (66). It is a full ABC transporter, in that it contains two transmembrane domains and two ATP binding domains. Its structure is predicted to have 2 large extracellular loops that are highly glycosylated and linked by one or more cysteine bonds (**Figure 1.5**) (66, 71).



Figure 1.5: Current topological model of ABCA1. "Y" in the extracellular loops indicates approximate glycosylation sites, and S-S indicates 1 predicted disulfide bond. Nucleotide-binding domain 1 (NBD-1) and NBD-2 contain the highly conserved Walker A and Walker B sequences. The figure was obtained from Oram J.F. and Heinecke J.W. (72) and used with permission.

1.5.2 Role of ABCAI in apoA-I-mediated cholesterol efflux

The active interaction of HDL proteins, particularly apoA-I, with cells to remove cellular lipids is the critical step in the initial production of HDL, without which no HDL is available for further passive removal of cell cholesterol or subsequent steps of the RCT pathway. Hence, ABCA1 catalyzes the rate-limiting step in the RCT pathway in HDL particle formation. ABCA1 either directly or indirectly mediates the active transport of cholesterol and PL across cellular membranes, where they are removed from cells by apoproteins. It appears that ABCA1 preferentially mediates the removal of cholesterol from late endosomes/lysosomes (73, 74) that would otherwise be esterified by ACAT (58, 75). Cellular cholesterol accumulation leads to increased ABCA1 expression (64, 76) through oxysterol-dependent activation of liver X receptor (LXR), a nuclear receptor that binds to the promoter region of the ABCA1 gene to activate its expression (77-79). The activity of the ACAT enzyme is dependent on the pool of cellular FC, and it likely functions alongside ABCA1 to maintain cholesterol balance and to limit the concentration of toxic FC within cells. Consequently, increased ABCA1 expression correlates with increased cholesterol efflux to HDL apoproteins (80, 81).

The role of ABCA1 in HDL formation was further analyzed upon the creation of ABCA1 knockout (ABCA1-KO) mice. Three independent laboratories have reported that mice lacking ABCA1 had a near absence of plasma HDL (82-84). Interestingly, liver ABCA1 seems to play an important role in the generation of HDL particles, probably because it is a high expresser of ABCA1 (85) and is the major organ to synthesize apoA-I (86, 87). Mice with liver-specific deficiency of ABCA1 had 80% lower plasma HDL-C levels; thus, it is thought that hepatic ABCA1 is critical for the initial lipidation of newly secreted lipid-poor apoA-I to form nascent discoidal (pre-β-migrating) HDL, protecting it from rapid degradation and allowing it to go on to form mature HDL (88). Some evidence also suggests hepatic ABCA1 shunts cholesterol out of the VLDL assembly pool and into the HDL formation pool (89). Surprisingly, mice with macrophage-specific deficiency of ABCA1 had little effect on plasma HDL-C levels, but were susceptible to atherosclerosis (90-92). These results suggest cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells plays an important role in the protection against atherosclerosis, but not in determining plasma HDL-C levels.

1.5.3 Interactions between apoA-I and ABCA1

Increased ABCA1 expression correlates with increased cell surface binding of apoA-I (93, 94). Currently, there are two models to explain the interaction between apoA-I and ABCA1 to mediate lipid efflux [reviewed in (95)]. The first model suggests apoA-I does not interact with ABCA1 directly, but rather with plasma membrane (PM) lipid domains created by ABCA1 (9). The second proposes a direct binding interaction in which apoA-I and ABCA1 bind in a ligand-receptor manner to promote cholesterol and PL efflux (95).

The first model (Figure 1.6A) proposes that functional ABCA1 generates an unstable lipid domain by flipping PL, primarily phosphatidylserine (PS), to the outer leaflet of the PM (96).



Figure 1.6: Proposed models for ABCA1-mediated lipid efflux to apoA-I. (A) ApoA-I associates with a specialized membrane domain formed by the action of ABCA1 and extracts membrane lipids. (B) ApoA-I binds directly to ABCA1 and acquires both cholesterol and phospholipids to form HDL. (C) Helix 10 of apoA-I tethers apoA-I to a specialized membrane domain formed by ABCA1. ApoA-I diffuses laterally along the membrane bilayer and complexes with ABCA1 to accept lipids. This figure was published in (95).

It has been observed that ABCA1-expressing cells have membrane structure perturbations that could be enriched in PL and cholesterol in the outer leaflet of the PM (97, 98). This unstable microenvironment on the cell surface is thought to allow the amphipathic apoA-I to readily interact with and solubilize the membrane lipids, leading to cellular lipid removal upon dissociation of the lipidated protein from the membrane (99, 100). A study using a fluorescence photobleaching technique demonstrated that membrane-associated apoA-I has diffusional properties that are consistent with an interaction with membrane lipids rather than with a membrane protein (101). Interestingly, a recent study suggested that ABCA1 mediates the formation of different lipid domains that contain their own unique lipid composition on the PM such that ABCA1 mediates the formation of different HDL species depending on which domain apoA-I interacts with on the PM (102).

Studies with ABCA1 mutants have also helped us to understand the nature of the molecular interaction between apoA-I and ABCA1. Chambenoit *et al* showed that apoA-

I cell surface binding is dependent on a fully functional ABCA1 protein, because cells expressing an ATPase-defective ABCA1 fail to bind apoA-I (101). It was concluded that cells lacking functional ABCA1 would not be able to flip PS to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane, thereby inhibiting the generation of a suitable lipid environment required for apoA-I docking. In support of this is the observation that the expression of ABCA1 correlates with the amount of exofacial PS (101) and the requirement for PS flipping to release cellular phospholipids to apoA-I (103). However, another study demonstrated that apoptosis-induced exofacial PS flipping was not sufficient to stimulate lipid efflux to apoA-I (104). A more recent study showed treatment of ABCA1-expressing human fibroblasts with phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C or sphingomyelinase had no effect on the ability of apoA-I to associate with ABCA1, suggesting that alterations in plasma membrane PL content by ABCA1 do not predict apoA-I binding to cells (105).

Studies using chemical cross-linkers have suggested that apoA-I binds directly to cell surface ABCA1 to form a high affinity complex, and that this binding is required for ABCA1-mediated lipid efflux (93, 98, 106) (Figure 1.6B). ApoA-I has been shown to cross-link to ABCA1 in an aqueous environment (107) and at a distance as little as 3 Å away, favoring a very close association between the two proteins (108). One ABCA1 transporter seems to bind to one molecule of apoA-I (109). In support of the direct association model, inhibition of ABCA1 by glybenclamide has been shown to inhibit both lipid efflux and cross-linking of apoA-I to ABCA1, suggesting a close relationship between apoA-I cross-linking and lipid efflux (94). Studies with ABCA1 mutants have also provided mounting evidence for the direct binding of apoA-I to ABCA1. Fitzgerald et al. have shown that four naturally occurring ABCA1 mutants harboring missense mutations in the two extracellular loops, but which remain properly targeted to the PM, fail to promote cholesterol efflux and have diminished ability to cross-link to apoA-I (107). This implies that a direct interaction between apoA-I and ABCA1 extracellular loops is necessary for efflux. Interestingly, another ABCA1 mutant (W590S) that fails to promote lipid efflux but retains full cross-linking ability with apoA-I has been identified, suggesting that apoA-I binding is necessary but not sufficient to stimulate cholesterol efflux (107). Further studies with the W590S mutant revealed that apoA-I binds and

dissociates from the defective ABCA1 transporter at a rate similar to wildtype ABCA1, but the dissociated apoA-I was without lipids, implying that dissociation is not dependent on lipid transfer to apoA-I (106). An explanation for the inability of the W590S mutant to efflux lipids may be its inability to drive the flipping of PS to the exofacial side of the PM, proposed to be a requirement for lipid efflux in the indirect association model (103). Hence, the apoA-I/ABCA1 interaction is complex and may involve the association of apoA-I with lipid domains created by ABCA1, and/or ABCA1 directly.

Panagotopulos and colleagues observed that helix 10 of apoA-I is crucial for apoprotein-mediated cholesterol efflux, and that two apoA-I mutants containing intact helix 10 exhibited markedly reduced lipid-binding affinity, but promoted cholesterol efflux much like wildtype apoA-I (110). To explain this observation, the authors propose a hybrid model integrating the protein-protein and lipid domain interaction hypotheses. They speculate that helix 10 functions to tether apoA-I to the ABCA1-generated lipid domain such that apoA-I can diffuse laterally until it comes into contact with ABCA1 to form a productive complex, leading to the lipidation of apoA-I (110). This hybrid model (**Figure 1.6C**) would explain why apoA-I does not readily cross-link to ABCAI at lower temperatures, as the lack of membrane fluidity would prevent the initial insertion and lateral diffusion of apoA-I (107).

1.5.4 Protection by apoA-I against calpain-dependent proteolysis of ABCA1

Another remarkable facet of the apoA-I-ABCA1 interaction is the demonstration that HDL apoproteins serve to protect ABCA1 against proteolysis, thereby increasing ABCA1 activity and further facilitating apoprotein-mediated lipid efflux (111-113). Arakawa and Yokoyama demonstrated that incubation of apoA-I with cultured THP-1 cells increased ABCA1 protein levels without increasing ABCA1 message; free apoA-II did the same thing, however intact HDL particles did not (111). Thiol-protease inhibitors could also prevent ABCA1 degradation while enhancing cholesterol efflux, suggesting a possible mechanism for apoproteins to stabilize ABCA1 (111). Wang and colleagues subsequently reported that calpain-dependent proteolysis is involved in the degradation of ABCA1 via a proline, glutamate, serine, and threonine (PEST)-rich intracellular sequence of the transporter, and that deletion of this PEST sequence or treatment of cells with apoA-I could inhibit this proteolysis and increase cell surface ABCA1 (112). They also demonstrated that infusion of apoA-I increased ABCA1 protein levels in the liver and peritoneal macrophages of C57BL/6J mice (112). This group subsequently reported that phosphorylation of threonine residues within this PEST sequence is required for calpain-dependent proteolysis of ABCA1, and apoA-I reverses this phosphorylation. In this way, the authors propose that apoA-I modulates ABCA1 expression by directly binding to ABCA1, or a membrane alteration secondary to ABCA1-mediated PL efflux could lead to decreased phosphorylation of the PEST sequence to increase ABCA1 activity (112, 114). Alternatively, the authors could not exclude the possibility that apoA-I binding or PL efflux induces a signaling cascade that leads to altered kinase or phosphatase activity and hence phosphorylation of the PEST sequence (113). Further studies suggest the PEST sequence of ABCA1 is required for the internalization of the transporter, to mediate efflux of the portion of total cholesterol efflux derived from intracellular pools (115).

1.5.5 Additional mechanisms of cholesterol efflux to HDL

Following the initial lipidation of apoA-I by ABCA1, discoidal (pre- β -migrating) nascent HDL particles are thought to receive additional cell cholesterol through the actions of other membrane transporters including ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 (ABCG1) and SR-BI, and by a passive diffusion mechanism. Mature HDL particles can also participate in ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux, but this is dependent on their ability to release lipid-free exchangeable apolipoproteins (such as apoA-I or apoE) from the particle surface (116). ABCG1 is a cell membrane transporter that facilitates the transfer of cholesterol from cells, including macrophages, to larger, spherical (α -migrating) HDL particles (117, 118). ABCG1-null mice fed a high-fat and high-cholesterol diet accumulated large amounts of cholesterol in macrophages and the liver without any change in plasma lipids or lipoprotein levels, indicating a role for ABCG1 in cholesterol homeostasis, but not necessarily in predicting plasma HDL-C levels (119). SR-BI facilitates the bidirectional transfer of FC between cells and mature HDL. This process is dependent on a concentration gradient, whereby a net transfer of cholesterol onto HDL particles is driven by the formation of a concentration gradient between the

HDL particle and the cell PM when LCAT esterifies FC on the surface of the HDL particle (39). Although still unclear, it is assumed that SR-BI accelerates the diffusion mechanism of FC efflux. Mature spherical HDL particles can also accept free cholesterol from cells via passive aqueous diffusion without assistance from membrane proteins (39). In this process, FC from cell membranes is spontaneously released into the aqueous phase where it incorporates onto spherical HDL particles. This mechanism is bidirectional, and, like SR-B1-mediated cholesterol efflux, is dependent on a concentration gradient of higher FC content on the cell surface down to the lower FC content on the HDL surface.

1.6 Regulation of cholesterol efflux by the Liver X Receptor

1.6.1 Regulation of ABCA1, cholesterol efflux, and reverse cholesterol transport by LXR

Transcription of ABCA1 is markedly enhanced by overloading cells with LXR α and LXR β are nuclear receptors that maintain cholesterol cholesterol. homeostasis by sensing excess cellular cholesterol. Induction of ABCA1 transcription occurs by way of LXR α and/or LXR β and the retinoid X receptor (RXR) (77, 78). LXR and RXR form obligate heterodimers that bind to response elements within the ABCA1 gene promoter region, thereby controlling its transcription. Oxysterols and retinoic acid bind to, and activate LXR and RXR, respectively (120); thus, treatment of cells with either an oxysterol or retinoic acid induces ABCA1 expression (77, 78). However, cholesterol delivered to cells must first be converted to oxysterols before inducing ABCA1 transcription. Hence, the series of events that leads to ABCA1 induction by LXR include the uptake of excess cholesterol by cells, the oxidation and generation of oxysterols by cytochome P450 enzymes, and finally, oxysterol activation of LXR to drive the transcription of ABCA1. In addition to conversion of FC to CE, cells are thus protected against accumulation of excess FC by increased expression of ABCA1, which mediates the transport of excess cholesterol to extracellular acceptor apoproteins. Thus, one can envision a possible role for LXR in mediating cholesterol efflux from peripheral sites such as macrophage foam cells, thereby enhancing RCT and protecting against atherosclerosis. Indeed, in vitro studies using a potent selective LXR α/β agonist (acetylpodocarpic dimer) resulted in increased ABCA1 mRNA expression with increased cholesterol efflux to apoA-I upon treatment of THP-1 and human primary macrophages

with the agonist (121). In vivo studies with synthetic LXR agonists have also shown promising results with respect to stimulating RCT. Joseph et al showed that treatment of LDLr-knockout (LDLr-KO) and apoE-KO mice with the synthetic LXR agonist GW3965 resulted in the upregulation of ABCA1 protein in the macrophages of aortic lesions, and consequently reducing atherosclerotic development by 35-50% (122). Recently, verification that LXR activation can stimulate RCT was documented when LDLr/apobec-1 double KO mice were injected intraperitoneally with ³H-cholesterol-labeled and cholesterol-loaded macrophages and monitored for the appearance of ³H-tracer in plasma and feces. Administration of GW3965 significantly increased the levels of ³H-tracer in plasma and feces in these mice, indicating stimulation of RCT from macrophages (123). Upregulation of ABCA1 expression mediated by LXR activators is associated with antiatherogenic effects (124) but is complicated by fatty liver and hypertriglyceridemia (125, 126), due to the fact that LXR also positively controls the transcription of hepatic genes involved in fatty acid and TAG synthesis, including stearoyl CoA-desaturase 1, fatty acid synthase and sterol response element binding protein 1c (127). Therefore, the potentially dangerous side effects of a fatty liver as well as increased plasma TAG levels need to be addressed before LXR agonists can be considered viable therapeutic agents.

1.7 Oxidized lipoproteins in atherosclerosis

1.7.1 Introduction to lipoprotein oxidation

A large body of evidence has suggested that oxidation of lipoproteins, in particular LDL, contributes to the initiation and/or progression of atherosclerosis [reviewed in (128)]. Numerous studies have shown that oxidation of LDL particles induces macrophage foam cell formation, and subsequent atherosclerotic lesion evolution (129-131). Oxidized LDL is thought to induce atherosclerosis by stimulating the release of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors from the injured endothelial cell, thereby stimulating monocyte infiltration and smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation in addition to macrophage and endothelial cell apoptosis (5, 132). Uptake of oxidized or acetylated LDL by macrophages is mediated by scavenger receptors, which do not behave like the LDLr in that they are not downregulated upon increased LDL uptake. Scavenger receptors are multi-ligand receptors that can take up oxidized LDL in a rapid

and unregulated fashion (131, 133, 134), leading to massive cholesterol deposition in the form of CE droplets and foam cell formation.

LDL can be oxidized by metal ions, lipoxygenases, or myeloperoxidase (MPO) (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7: Mechanisms of LDL oxidation. Metal ions, lipoxygenase, and myeloperoxidase can oxidize LDL lipids and proteins. Oxidized LDL can then be taken up by peripheral cells via scavenger receptors. The figure was obtained from Mertens, A. and Holvoet, P. (132) with permission.

Free metal ions such as Cu^{2+} or Fe^{2+} can rapidly oxidize unsaturated fatty acids to lipid hydroperoxides, which are in turn converted to reactive aldehydes. Reaction of these aldehydes with positively charged ε -amino groups of lysine residues on apoB render LDL

24

more negatively charged. This results in decreased affinity for the LDLr and increased affinity for scavenger receptors (132). However, it is unlikely that free metal ions are responsible for *in vivo* oxidation, since plasma and interstitial fluid concentrations of these ions appear to be very low (135). Polyunsaturated fatty acids of LDL PL can be oxidized into lipid hydroperoxides *in vivo* by 15-Lipoxygenase, an enzyme produced by endothelial cells and monocytes/macrophages (**Figure 1.7**) (132). Another potential physiological catalyst of lipoprotein oxidation is MPO, a heme protein released from activated phagocytes (35). MPO uses H_2O_2 generated by activated monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils as a substrate for oxidative reactions. Reactive species such as hypochlorous acid, chloramines, tyrosyl radicals, and nitrogen dioxide can be generated from MPO. These reactive species can oxidize lipids and protein of LDL, among other targets (**Figure 1.7**) (132).

Protein oxidation often leads to covalent intra- and inter-protein cross-linking (35, 136). Oxidation of proteins by systems utilizing peroxidases have been shown to create protein-protein cross-links between tyrosine residues, generating dityrosine in the oxidized target (136-138). Dityrosine is an intensely fluorescent molecule, and an increase in dityrosine fluorescence in these systems suggests that these protein-protein cross-links involve coupling of separate protein tyrosine residues. Upon binding of H_2O_2 to the heme group of MPO, the formation of dityrosine first involves the oxidation of tyrosine residues either free in solution or part of the polypeptide chain to create tyrosyl radicals. Two tyrosyl radicals can then react with each other to form dityrosine with its characteristic fluorescence. The products of tyrosyl radical oxidation are illustrated in **Figure 1.8**.


Figure 1.8: Products of peroxidase-mediated tyrosine oxidation. (A) Horseradish peroxidase, MPO, or other peroxidases convert free L-tyrosine to tyrosyl radical. 2 free tyrosyl radicals can undergo phenolic coupling to generate free dityrosine. (B) Alternatively, a free tyrosyl radical can interact with a protein tyrosine to generate a protein tyrosyl radical. The protein tyrosyl radical can either interact with a free tyrosyl radical to generate a tyrosine adduct (C), or 2 protein tyrosyl radicals can couple to form an inter-protein dityrosine cross-link (D). While tyrosyl radicals are short-lived, dityrosine is a stable product.

MPO is a likely candidate for the *in vivo* oxidation of lipoproteins (139). Physiologically, active MPO, which is capable of producing hypochlorous acid from free chloride ions, and tyrosyl radical from free L-tyrosine, is found in human atherosclerotic lesions (140). **Figure 1.9** illustrates the mechanism of free radical generation by activated phagocytes. Evidence for MPO as a physiological mediator of oxidation of lipoproteins is supported by the demonstration that proteins modified by hypochlorite, a product expected to be generated only by MPO (141), is found in both early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions (142, 143).



Figure 1.9: Model for tyrosyl radical generation in vivo. Activated human phagocytes (neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages) secrete the enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO) and generate superoxide (O_2) by the actions of the plasma membrane associated NADPH oxidase. Superoxide spontaneously dismutates or is enzymatically converted by superoxide dismutase (SOD) to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). H_2O_2 is used by MPO to catalyze the oxidation of its substrates to free radicals in the extracellular or interstitial fluid. These radicals carry out the actual oxidative damage characteristic of activated phagocytes. One substrate for oxidation by MPO is the amino acid L-tyrosine which is converted to tyrosyl radical (Tyroysl). Cl⁻, chloride ion; HOCl, hypochlorous acid; O_2 , molecular oxygen; e⁻; electron.

In addition, MPO-catalyzed oxidation products such as o,o'-dityrosine have been found in atherosclerotic lesion LDL in much higher levels than in circulating LDL, and there is a marked increase in dityrosine in early (fatty streaks) and advanced atherosclerotic lesions when compared to normal aortas (143, 144).

1.7.2 Role of oxidized HDL in cholesterol efflux

A number of studies have reported that HDL is readily oxidized *in vitro* and that HDL is actually more susceptible to oxidation than is LDL (35, 145). Reasons for this include the smaller size of HDL and therefore decreased capacity to carry antioxidant

molecules on the particle surface (35). Most studies have reported that oxidative modification of HDL impairs its ability to promote cholesterol efflux from cultured cells (146-154), thereby rendering it less effective as a cardioprotective particle. However, studies in our laboratory indicate oxidation of HDL by peroxidase-generated tyrosyl radical markedly enhances the ability of HDL to promote the removal of cholesterol from cultured cells (155-157).

1.7.3 Role of tyrosyl radical-oxidized HDL in cholesterol efflux and atherosclerosis

Studies from our laboratory suggest tyrosyl radical preferentially oxidizes the protein rather than the lipid components of HDL, with tyrosyl radical generating low levels of lipid oxidation products (156). Furthermore, tyrosyl radical can oxidize HDL apoproteins in their lipid-free state, thereby inducing oligomerization of the HDL apoproteins (**Figure 1.10**) (157). Thus, it appears that complexes between apoA-I and apoA-II, the two main proteins of HDL, can be formed in the presence or absence of lipids during oxidation by tyrosyl radical (155, 157). In contrast, oxidation of HDL by hydroxyl radical, lipoxygenase, or metal ions such as copper generates high levels of lipid peroxidation (35). As evidence of this, in contrast to peroxidase-generated tyrosyl radical, copper ion failed to oxidize or induce oligomers of free HDL apoproteins in the absence of lipids (**Figure 1.10**) (35).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 1.10: Oligomerization of free apoA-I and apoA-II by tyrosyl radical but not by copper ion. Apos were oxidized by either 2 μ M copper ion, or tyrosyl radical as described in Chapter 2 section 2.2.2. (A) Non-reducing SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie Blue; (B) anti-apoA-I Western blot; (C) anti-apoA-II Western blot. Lane assignments: 1, unoxidized apoA-I; 2, tyrosyl radical-oxidized apoA-I; 3, unoxidized apoA-II; 4, tyrosyl radical-oxidized apoA-II; 5, tyrosyl radical-oxidized apoA-I + apoA-II; 6, copper-oxidized apoA-I; 7, copper-oxidized apoA-II; 8, copper-oxidized apoA-I + apoA-II. While tyrosyl radical was able to promote oligomerization of the apoproteins in the absence of lipids, copper ion was not. The figure was obtained from Francis, G.A. and reprinted from (35) with permission from Elsevier.

1.7.3.1 Tyrosyl radical oxidation of HDL enhances cholesterol removal from cultured cells

HDL oxidized by the complete system of horseradish peroxidase (HRP)- H_2O_2 -Ltyrosine (tyrosylated HDL or tyrHDL) has an enhanced ability to mobilize cholesterol from cells. Cultured human skin fibroblasts (HSF) treated with tyrHDL had an increased ability to promote the removal of cellular cholesterol available for esterification by ACAT (**Figure 1.11A and 1.12A**), and had significantly less CE and FC mass in the cells (**Figure 1.12B**), indicating that tyrHDL promotes increased cholesterol efflux (155).



Figure 1.11: Cholesterol esterification and synthesis in fibroblasts incubated with tyrHDL. (A) Cholesterol loaded HSF were incubated for 16 h with the indicated concentrations of HDL. Then the cells were washed and incubated for 1 h with [¹⁴C]oleate for incorporation into cholesteryl esters. Cellular lipids were extracted and assayed for cholesteryl [¹⁴C]oleate. (B) Following 24 h exposure to HDL samples, cells were exposed to [¹⁴C]acetate for 2 h to measure new cholesterol synthesis. *White circles*, control HDL; *dark circles*, tyrHDL complete system; *white triangles*, HDL oxidized with complete system minus L-tyrosine. The figure was obtained from Francis, G.A. (155) with permission. Copyright (1993) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.



Figure 1.12: Cholesterol mass in fibroblasts coincubated with LDL and tyrHDL. HSF at 80% confluence were incubated for 48 h with 10% lipoprotein-deficient serum to upregulate LDLr activity. They were then incubated for 24 h in medium containing 50 μ g/mL of LDL and the indicated concentration of HDL. (A) CE mass; (B) FC mass. *White circles*, control HDL; *dark circles*, tyrHDL complete system; *white triangles*, HDL oxidized with complete system but with heat-inactivated HRP. The figure was obtained from Francis, G.A. (155) with permission. Copyright (1993) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.

Similar results were seen in depletion by tyrHDL of CE and FC mass in cholesterolloaded mouse peritoneal macrophages (155). This suggested that tyrHDL is able to deplete the regulatory pool of cholesterol that would normally be esterified by ACAT. Interestingly, efflux from this same pool of cholesterol is thought to be mediated by ABCA1 (58, 74, 75). Depletion of this regulatory pool of cholesterol was confirmed by the finding that HSF showed a marked increase in new cholesterol synthesis following treatment with tyrHDL (**Figure 1.11B**). The induction of ABCA1 that occurs with the overloading of cells with cholesterol is attributed to activation of the LXR/RXR heterodimer by oxysterols (77, 78). Our laboratory has demonstrated that tyrHDL is able to markedly deplete the regulatory pool of cholesterol even in cholesterol-depleted cells grown in lipoprotein deficient serum (Francis, G.A, unpublished data) – a condition that would yield minimal concentrations of cellular oxysterols. This indicates that tyrHDL may function to mobilize cholesterol via ABCA1 without requirement for LXR. The effects of tyrHDL represented the first evidence of enhanced cholesterol mobilization by an oxidized form of HDL (155).

1.7.3.II TyrHDL increases the availability of cholesterol for new HDL particle formation

It was further demonstrated that tyrHDL was capable of mobilizing cholesterol for new HDL particle formation. When compared to normal HDL, cholesterol-loaded fibroblasts treated with low concentrations of tyrHDL showed depletion of CE and increased cell FC even prior to increasing cholesterol efflux to the culture medium, due to the absence of adequate concentrations of cholesterol acceptors in the medium (**Figure 1.13**).



Figure 1.13: Time course of cholesteryl ester turnover and cholesterol efflux from cholesterol-loaded fibroblasts exposed to tyrHDL. Cells were labeled with [³H]cholesterol during the last 40% of growth to confluence and then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 48 h and equilibrated for 24 h in medium containing 1 mg/mL BSA (serum-free medium, SFM) to allow equilibration of cholesterol pools. The cells were then incubated with SFM (*white triangles*) alone, or the same medium plus 10 µg/mL HDL (*white circles*), or tyrHDL (*dark circles*). Results are expressed as percent of total (cell plus medium) [³H]sterol in the medium (A), in cellular cholesteryl ester (CE) (B), and in cellular free cholesterol (FC) (C). This figure was obtained from Francis, G.A. and reprinted with permission from (156). Copyright (1996) American Chemical Society.

This occurred with no direct effect on the ACAT or neutral cholesteryl ester hydrolase enzyme activity (155, 156). TyrHDL had no effect on esterification by ACAT of exogenous cholesterol added to whole cell homogenates (155), nor did it inhibit the rate of hydrolysis of CE compared to HDL when the re-esterification step of the cholesteryl ester cycle was blocked by an ACAT inhibitor (156). These results indicate tyrHDL impacts the cholesteryl ester cycle by removing cholesterol available for esterification within the cycle. The results also indicated tyrHDL moves cholesterol from sites available for esterification by ACAT to sites available for removal from the cell by exogenous acceptors (the "efflux-accessible" pool), and that this can occur prior to depletion of cholesterol from the PM.

Subsequent studies found that there was no difference in the ability of tyrHDL or control HDL to stimulate passive FC efflux from the PM of cells, yet HSF pre-treated with tyrHDL showed increased cholesterol efflux to apoA-I (156). This is further evidence that tyrHDL has an enhanced ability to mobilize intracellular cholesterol to PM domains for subsequent removal by acceptor particles and suggests that tyrHDL can stimulate new HDL particle formation. This mechanism for diverting cholesterol from the ACAT substrate pool to an efflux-accessible pool without any change in passive cholesterol efflux suggests that it is the active efflux pathway that is upregulated in this system. This has far reaching implications in that ABCAI is thought to mediate the active redistribution and efflux of cellular cholesterol to acceptor molecules. Therefore, tyrHDL may have an enhanced capacity to stimulate ABCA1-mediated FC efflux to increase plasma HDL levels, thereby protecting against atherosclerosis.

1.7.3.III Administration of tyrHDL increases plasma HDL-C and inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice

Indeed, *in vivo* studies have shown that administration of tyrHDL in apoE-KO mice increases HDL-C and inhibits the development of atherosclerosis (158). Isolated native apoE-free HDL from C57BL/6 mice that were oxidized by tyrosyl radical showed apoprotein oligomerization and had an enhanced ability to deplete cultured fibroblasts of their regulatory pool of cholesterol available for esterification (158). When apoE-KO mice were injected intraperitoneally with either saline, 150 μ g/mL of control HDL, or the

same amount of tyrHDL twice weekly for 8 weeks, the animals injected with tyrHDL had a maximum 2.3 fold increase in endogenous HDL-C, which fell toward the end of the treatment period. Despite similar rates of clearance of injected HDL particles as well as the drop in endogenous HDL-C after 8 weeks of treatment, the tyrHDL treatment resulted in 37% less aortic lesion development than in control HDL-treated mice and 67% less than in saline-injected animals (**Figure 1.14**) (158).



Figure 1.14: Atherosclerotic lesion areas in aortas from apoE-deficient mice injected with saline or treated with control HDL or tyrHDL for 8 weeks. Aortas were removed, cleaned, and opened longitudinally, and lesion area was from determined en face photographs. *Significantly different from saline-treated **Significantly different animals (P < 0.001);from saline- and control HDL-treated animals The figure was obtained from (P<0.001). Macdonald, D.L. et al (158) with permission. Copyright (2003) Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

1.7.3.IV Enhanced cholesterol mobilization by tyrHDL is mediated by apoA-I-A-II heterodimers

It was shown that the active components of tyrHDL are apoA-I-A-II heterodimers. Based on SDS-PAGE gels of tyrHDL preparations, our laboratory had observed the presence of oligomeric complexes of apoA-I and apoA-II in addition to apoAI-AII heterodimers (155).. To determine whether the protein or lipid components of tyrHDL were responsible for the enhanced mobilization of cholesterol from cells, the whole protein and lipid fractions of tyrHDL and HDL were isolated and then recombined into spherical or discoidal reconstituted HDL particles (rHDL) to test their activity (157). Spherical, and to a lesser extent, discoidal, rHDL containing the whole apoprotein fraction of tyrHDL had the same ability as intact tyrHDL to enhance cholesterol redistribution from fibroblasts when reconstituted with the whole lipid fraction of either HDL or tyrHDL (**Figure 1.15**) (157).



Figure 1.15: Reduction in cholesterol esterification by protein and lipid components of tyrHDL. (A) Lipid-free apoproteins of HDL (*circles*) or tyrHDL (*triangle*); (B) discoidal rHDL made using phosphatidylcholine and FC; (C) spherical rHDL made using the whole lipid fraction of HDL (*white symbols*) or tyrHDL (*dark symbols*). *Circles* are rHDL made from apoproteins of HDL, and *triangles* are from apoproteins of tyrHDL. Cholesterol esterification was measured after 16 h of incubation with apoproteins or rHDL as described in Figure 1.11A. Esterification was significantly less only when tyrosylated apoproteins were reconstituted with the whole lipid fraction of HDL. The figure was obtained from Wang, W.Q. et al (157) with permission.

The lipid-free protein fraction of tyrHDL failed to enhance the mobilization of cholesterol compared to lipid-free control HDL proteins, suggesting that optimal activity of tyrHDL proteins requires a specific conformation of tyrHDL apoproteins when present on the surface of spherical HDL particles. When the whole lipid fraction of tyrHDL particles was reconstituted with the whole protein fraction of HDL, this particle also failed to show enhanced capacity to deplete cells of cholesterol for esterification by ACAT (157). Furthermore, tyrosyl radical oxidation of free apoA-I or apoA-II in their lipid free form or in rHDL had no enhanced activity, whereas oxidation of apoA-I+apoA-II-containing HDL particles or a combination of lipid-free apoA-I and apoA-II oxidized and then reconstituted with lipids to make rHDL reproduced the activity of intact tyrHDL in depleting cholesterol available for esterification (157). Confirmation that apoA-I-A-II heterodimers are responsible for the activity of tyrHDL was obtained when apoA-I-A-II heterodimers were isolated from tyrHDL by way of preparative electrophoresis, and reconstitution of these heterodimers into spherical HDL particles resulted in marked increase in the ability of these particles to mobilize cholesterol for efflux (157).

1.8 Hypothesis and specific aims

In summary, research in our laboratory has previously shown that tyrHDL has a much greater capacity than native HDL to promote the removal of cholesterol from cells to apoA-I for new HDL particle formation. The active component of tyrHDL appears to be apoA-I-A-II heterodimers. *In vivo* studies using an animal model of atherosclerosis, the apoE-deficient mouse, showed that administration of tyrHDL yielded increased endogenous HDL-C levels and reduced development of atherosclerosis in those mice. ABCA1 mediates the mobilization and removal of cellular cholesterol that is thought to be acted upon by ACAT. The fact that tyrHDL is able to markedly enhance the depletion of the regulatory pool of cholesterol that would normally be esterified by ACAT, when compared to control HDL, strongly suggest that tyrHDL functions by way of ABCA1 expression and/or activity. Hence, we hypothesized that tyrHDL enhances the mobilization of cellular lipids for HDL formation by enhancing the expression or activity of ABCA1.

The objectives of this thesis are:

1. To determine whether tyrHDL increases ABCA1 mRNA and/or protein levels in human skin fibroblasts (HSF).

2. To determine whether tyrHDL can increase cell surface expression of ABCA1.

3. To determine whether tyrHDL enhances ABCA1 activity or expression in an LXR-dependent pathway.

4. To determine whether the enhanced ability of tyrHDL to promote cholesterol mobilization from cells involves a direct binding interaction with ABCA1.

5. To determine the effect of tyrHDL on production of HDL particles as assessed by 2dimensional gel electrophoresis.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

Cholesterol, L-tyrosine, horseradish peroxidase (HRP), hydrogen peroxide (30%, ACS grade), diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid (DTPA; free acid form), liver X receptor agonist TO-901317, and essentially fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (BSA) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. [¹⁴C]Oleate (55 mCi/mmol) was purchased from Amersham Pharmacia Biotech. Chelex 100 resin was from Bio-Rad. Dithiobis(succinimidyl propionate) (DSP) was purchased from Pierce. The organic solvents used in this study were purchased from Fisher Scientific. Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) was purchased from BioWhittaker and fetal bovine serum (FBS) from Hyclone. Nitrocellulose membranes, sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) reagents, and pre-stained protein molecular mass markers were purchased from Bio-Rad.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Preparation of lipoproteins and apoA-I

HDL₃ (d = 1.125-1.21 g/ml, hereafter referred to as HDL) was isolated by standard ultracentrifugation techniques from the pooled plasma of healthy volunteers (159). HDL fractions were subjected to heparin-Sepharose affinity chromatography to remove apoE- and apoB-containing particles (160). The whole protein fraction of HDL was obtained by delipidating HDL and purified apoA-I obtained by FPLC as described (161). In detail, HDL (0.2 mL) was delipidated by suspension in 12 mL of hexane/isopropanol (3:2 v/v) for 30 min and then spun at 2000 rpm at 4°C for 10 min to pellet HDL apoproteins. Isolation of HDL apoproteins was performed by FPLC using Q-Sepharose Fast Flow (GE Healthcare) anion-exchange FPLC column (2.6 x 40 cm) with a two buffer system (buffer A: 20 mM Tris, 6 M Urea, pH 8.5, and buffer B: 20 mM Tris, 6 M Urea, 2M NaCl, pH 8.5) using the following gradient program:

Total flow volume (mL) % buffer B

0.0	0.0
188.5	0.0
188.6	4.0
400.5	4.8
730.5	7.0

730.6	100
788.5	100
788.6	0

Fractions were collected and subjected to SDS-PAGE and silver staining to visualize fractions containing apoA-I. These fractions were pooled and dialyzed in 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate, 1 mM EDTA at 4°C. Purified apoA-I was lyophilized and stored at -80 °C. ApoA-I was dissolved in 66 mM phosphate buffer containing 0.1 mM DTPA (pH 8.0) at a concentration of 1 mg/ml before use.

2.2.2 Modification of HDL by peroxidase

Tyrosyl-radical oxidation of 1 mg/mL of HDL was carried out at 37°C for 16-20 h in 66 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) containing 100 μ M DTPA, 100 nM HRP (Boehringer Mannheim), 100 μ M H₂O₂, and 100 μ M L-tyrosine. These conditions had previously been determined to optimize dityrosine synthesis in HDL proteins (155). The phosphate buffer was passed over Chelex 100 resin to remove transition metal ions potentially able to catalyze lipoprotein oxidation, and DTPA was included to inhibit metal-ion-catalyzed oxidation reactions. Protein-associated dityrosine production was monitored by fluorescence spectrometry using excitation and emission wavelengths of 328 nm and 410 nm, respectively.

2.2.3 Trypsinization of HDL and tyrHDL

Trypsin modification of HDL and tyrHDL was performed as described (162). Briefly, HDL or tyrHDL (to a final concentration of 1 mg protein/mL in 66 mM phosphate buffer pH 8.0) were incubated with trypsin (Gibco BRL) at an HDL/trypsin protein ratio of 40:1, where 1/10 of the total volume of reaction mixture was 0.10 M Tris/0.01 M CaCl₂ at pH 8.0. The CaCl₂ activates the trypsin. The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 30 min. After incubation, samples were chilled on ice and trypsin activity was inhibited by addition of phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride (1 mM). HDL and tyrHDL was separated from trypsin and cleaved peptides by chromatography on a 1×30 cm Sephadex G-75 column. This procedure digests ~15% of the total HDL protein content of HDL without disturbing its lipid composition. The phospholipid content of the trypsinized HDL particles was analyzed, and HDL concentrations used to treat cells were based on HDL phospholipid content rather than HDL protein concentrations.

2.2.4 Cell culture

Human skin fibroblasts (HSF) were obtained by punch biopsy from healthy human donors; some cell lines were a kind gift of Dr. John Oram, University of Washington. Human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMC) were obtained from Dr. Russell Ross, University of Washington, and from the American Type Culture Collection (CRL-1999). Skin biopsies from LXR α and β double knockout C57BL/6 mice (a kind gift from Dr. David Mangelsdorf, University of Texas Southwestern) were collected in DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS. Tissue biopsies from wildtype and LXR α and β double knockout C57BL/6 mice were incubated in 21.75 mg/mL Dispase® (Invitrogen) dissolved in DMEM containing 50 units/ml penicillin, and 50 µg/ml streptomycin overnight at 4°C to facilitate removal of the epidermal layer. After removal of the epidermis, biopsies were cut into smaller pieces and washed 3 times with DMEM containing 20% FBS, 50 units/ml penicillin, 50 µg/ml streptomycin, and 1X Fungizone® (Invitrogen). These smaller tissue pieces were then seeded into T-25 cm² flasks with four pieces of tissue per flask. Each of the tissue pieces was covered with DMEM containing 20% FBS, 50 units/ml penicillin, 50 µg/ml streptomycin, and 1X Fungizone® and cultured in 95% air and 5% CO2 at 37°C. The conditions of isolation (particularly the 20% FBS) favor the growth of fibroblasts, which will usually out-compete any other cell types in growth. Once fibroblasts grew out from the tissues, the tissues were removed and fibroblasts were left to grow. Identification of fibroblasts was based on morphology (fibroblasts have a characteristic spindle shape). Mouse skin fibroblasts (MSF) were isolated and expanded as cell lines once they grew to confluence. All cell lines were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 50 units/ml penicillin, and 50 µg/ml streptomycin in humidified 95% air and 5% CO₂ at 37°C unless specifically indicated.

To load cells with non-lipoprotein cholesterol, confluent cells were rinsed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 1 mg/ml BSA (PBS/BSA) and incubated for 24 h in DMEM containing 2 mg/ml BSA with 30 μ g/ml cholesterol added from a 10 mg/ml stock in ethanol. To allow equilibration of added cholesterol, cells were

rinsed twice with PBS/BSA and incubated for an additional 24 h in DMEM containing 1 mg/ml BSA (DMEM/BSA).

2.2.5 Cholesterol esterification assay

Cells were seeded on 16 mm wells and grown to confluence in DMEM containing 10% FBS. To assess the ability of HDL, tyrHDL, trypsinized HDL, or trypsinized tyrHDL to deplete cellular free cholesterol available for esterification by acyl CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT), cells loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol and equilibrated were rinsed once with PBS/BSA, incubated for 16 h in DMEM/BSA, or same media plus 0-20 µg/ml HDL or tyrHDL protein, or 0-40 µM HDL, tyrHDL, trypsinized HDL or trypsinized tyrHDL phospholipid. Cells were then rinsed once with PBS, and incubated for 1 h more with DMEM containing 9 μ M [¹⁴C]oleate bound to 3 µM BSA (163). At the end of the incubation, cells were chilled on ice to prevent further incorporation of [¹⁴C]oleate, rinsed twice with iced PBS/BSA and twice with iced PBS, and stored at -20 °C until lipid extraction. Cell layers were incubated at room temperature with 1 mL hexane: isopropanol (3:2, v/v) for 30 min to extract total cell lipids. These extracts were transferred to 13 x 100 mm glass tubes containing 20 µL of complete carrier as standards (0.5 mg/mL CE, 1 mg/mL FC, 1 mg/mL 1-monooleoylglycerol, 1 mg/mL 1,2 distearoyl-glycerol, 1 mg/mL triolein [TAG], and 1 mg/mL oleic acid). Cells were rinsed twice more in hexane: isopropanol, and these extracts added to the tubes. Total extracts were dried by gentle heating and air, and then resuspended in 110 µL of ice-cold chloroform. 100 µL of this was spotted on PE SIL G plastic-backed plates (Whatman), and the plates developed in hexane/diethyl either/acetic acid (130:40:1.5 v/v/v). Lipid spots were identified by staining with I_2 vapor. After allowing I₂ stain to evaporate, cholesterol ester spots were taken for determination of radioactivity by liquid scintillation counting.

Cell protein was extracted by incubation of cells with 0.5 mL of 0.1 N NaOH for 1 h on a rotary shaker. Total cell protein was determined by the Lowry assay (164) using BSA as standard.

2.2.6 Reverse transcriptase-PCR analysis of ABCA1 mRNA

Total RNA was isolated from cells by guanidine isothiocyanate/phenol/ chloroform extraction (165). The concentration of RNA was measured spectrophotometrically at a wavelength of 260 nm, and 2 µg of RNA was treated with DNase I (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's guidelines. First strand cDNA synthesis was performed using 500 nM of oligo(dT) primer and SuperscriptTM RNase H (Invitrogen). Each reaction mixture contained 100 units of SuperscriptTM enzyme, 1x first strand buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0), 0.5 µM dNTP mix, 0.01 M dithiothreitol, 0.05 µg/µl BSA, and 2 units of RNase inhibitor (Invitrogen). The mixtures were incubated at 45 °C for 90 min followed by incubation at 95 °C for 3 min (Whatman Biometra T-gradient thermocycler) and then put promptly on ice. Amplification of ABCA1 and cyclophilin mRNAs was performed in tandem to ensure equal amounts of starting cDNA for each sample. Diethyl pyrocarbonate-treated water, 1x PCR buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.4, and 50 mM KCl), 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM dNTPs, and cDNA were added to 200 µl of thin walled PCR tubes and mixed, and one-half volume was transferred to another PCR tube. One unit of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) and 1.5 µl of 10 µM forward and reverse primers (ABCA1 or cyclophilin) were added to complete the reaction mixture. ABCA1 amplification was performed by initially denaturing DNA at 95 °C for 3 min. Thereafter, denaturing was at 95 °C for 75 s, annealing at 54.6 °C for 75 s, and extension at 72 °C for 55 s for a total of 31 cycles with a final extension period of 5 min. Human cyclophilin amplification was performed using similar conditions except the annealing temperature was 48 °C with a total of 33 cycles. PCR products were electrophoresed on a 1.2% agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide, and visualized under UV light. The primers used were as follows: human ABCA1, 5'-GAC ATC CTG AAG CCA ATC CTG A (forward), 5'-CCT TGT GGC TGG AGT GTC AGG T (reverse); human cyclophilin, 5'-ACC CAA AGG GAA CTG CAG CGA GAG C (forward), 5'-CCG CGT CTC CTT TGA GCT GTT TGC AG (reverse).

2.2.7 Western blot analysis of ABCA1 Protein

Cells were grown to confluence on 100 mm culture dishes in DMEM containing 10% FBS, then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol or not, and then equilibrated.

Cells were then incubated with DMEM/BSA, or same media plus 10 μ g/mL of apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL for 2 or 16 h. These time points were chosen to have an early and later time point of tyrHDL exposure. Crude membrane proteins were prepared by homogenizing cells on ice in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.4, containing complete protease inhibitors (Roche Molecular Biochemicals) and 1 mM EDTA. The nuclear fraction was removed by centrifugation for 2 min at 5,000 rpm (2,040 x g), and the supernatant was subsequently centrifuged for 30 min at 14,000 rpm (16,000 x g). The pellet was then resuspended in the homogenizing buffer with 0.45 M urea, 0.1 % Triton X-100, 0.2 % SDS and 0.05 % dithiothreitol and after determination of protein content by a BCA method (Pierce) the membrane preparations were stored at -80 °C until use. Fifteen to thirty micrograms of membrane proteins were separated by 7.5-15% gradient SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions and transferred to nitrocellulose membrane for 16 h at 4 °C. Immunoblotting was performed using a rabbit polyclonal antibody to ABCA1 (1:1000, Novus Biologicals) and a goat anti-rabbit IgG horseradish peroxidaseconjugated secondary antibody (1:10,000, Sigma-Aldrich). Briefly, membranes were blocked for 1 h at room temperature with 5% skim milk power in Tris-buffered saline (TBS; 25 mM Tris, 137 mM NaCl, pH 7.5) containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS/T), rinsed three times with TBS/T, and incubated for 1 h at room temperature or 16 h at 4 °C with primary antibodies diluted in TBS/T containing 1% skim milk powder. Following the incubation, membranes were rinsed five times with TBS/T and incubated with appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. Secondary antibodies were diluted in TBS/T containing 1% skim milk powder. Membranes were extensively rinsed with TBS/T before chemiluminescent detection using the enhanced chemiluminescence assay system (Amersham Biosciences). The blots were reprobed with anti-protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) antibody (StressGen Biotechnologies) to verify equal protein loading.

2.2.8 Measurement of total and cell surface ABCA1

HSF were grown to confluence on 100 mm culture dishes in DMEM containing 10% FBS, then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol and equilibrated. Cells were then incubated with DMEM/BSA, or same media plus with 10 μ g/mL of apoA-I, HDL, or

tyrHDL for 16 h. Cell surface proteins were biotinylated using a cell surface protein biotinylation and purification kit (Pierce) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The biotinylated samples were lysed in RIPA buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, and 4 mM EDTA) containing complete protease inhibitors (Roche Molecular Biochemicals). Cell protein concentration was determined using BSA as standard and 20-50 µg of total protein were run on 7.5-15% gradient SDS-PAGE to determine total ABCA1 levels by Western blot as The blots were reprobed with anti-PDI antibody (StressGen described above. Biotechnologies) to verify equal protein loading. To determine cell surface ABCA1 levels, biotinylated proteins were isolated from 0.5-0.8 mg of total cell proteins according to the manufacturer's protocol, and 50 µl of isolated samples were run on 7.5-15% gradient SDS-PAGE. Cell surface ABCA1 protein levels were determined by Western blot and the blots were reprobed with anti-heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) antibody (Sigma-Aldrich) to verify no contamination of cytosolic proteins in the purified samples. We found no HSP90 signal from the purified cell surface protein fraction, whereas HSP90 signal was detected from the blots of total cell protein.

2.2.9 Cross-linking of apoA-I, HDL or tyrHDL to ABCA1

Chemical cross-linking was performed as described by Wang et al. (98) with minor modifications. HSF grown to confluence in 100 mm culture dishes were cholesterol loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol, equilibrated, and then treated with 5 μ M LXR Agonist (TO-901317) in DMEM/BSA for 24 h to upregulate ABCA1 expression. The cells were washed twice with PBS and then treated with DMEM/BSA or same media containing 10 μ g/mL apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL in DMEM/BSA for 2 hrs at 37°C. Cells were then placed on ice for 15 minutes and washed three times with PBS. DSP (cross-linker agent) was dissolved immediately before use in dimethyl sulfoxide and diluted to 250 μ M with PBS. 10 ml of DSP solution was added into each dish. Cells were then incubated at room temperature for 1 h, the medium was removed, and the cells were washed twice with iced-PBS. Cells were lysed at 4 °C with IP buffer containing 20 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 0.5 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-100 (BDH Chemicals), and complete protease inhibitor (Roche Molecular Biochemicals). The cells were lysed by

aspiration with a fine-tipped needle, and the mixture was left to rotate at 4°C for 30 min. Cell lysates were centrifuged at 1,500 RPM for 10 min at 4°C to remove cellular debris. The supernatant was collected and incubated with Laemmli sample buffer in the absence or presence of β -mercaptoethanol before loading onto 4-20% gradient SDS-PAGE gels for electrophoresis followed by electrotransfer to a nitrocellulose sheet for autoradiography and Western analysis. ApoA-I cross-linked to ABCA1 was detected by blotting the membranes with rabbit polyclonal anti-human apoA-I antibody (1:10,000) and a goat anti-rabbit IgG horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10,000). To detect ABCA1 alone, the membrane was stripped and reprobed with rabbit polyclonal anti-but IgG horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10,000).

2.2.10 Cell surface binding of intact and trypsinized HDL and tyrHDL

To assess cell surface binding of intact and trypsinized HDL and tyrHDL, HSF were grown to confluence on 35 mm wells in DMEM containing 10% FBS, loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol, equilibrated, and then rinsed three times with warm PBS/BSA. The cells were then chilled and left on ice for 5 min before incubation for 3 h on ice at 4°C in DMEM/BSA, or same media plus 0-20 μ M based on phospholipid content of intact HDL or tyrHDL, or trypsinized HDL or tyrHDL. The cells were then washed three times with iced PBS/BSA and then incubated with DMEM/BSA containing 2 μ g/mL ¹²⁵I-HDL for 1 h on ice. After this incubation, the cells were rinsed five times with iced PBS/BSA and twice with iced PBS. One mL of 0.1 N NaOH was added to each well, and the cells were left to shake for 1 h on a rotary shaker. Aliquots of 0.5 mL from each well were taken for ¹²⁵I counts and aliquots of 0.2 mL were taken for total cell protein determination by the Lowry assay (164) using BSA as standard.

2.2.11 2-Dimensional Gel Electrophoresis of HDL particles

HSF were grown to confluence on 35 mm wells in DMEM containing 10% FBS, then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol and equilibrated. Cells were then treated with 10 μ g/mL of apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL for 24 h. Cells were washed twice with PBS/BSA and then incubated with 1 mL of 10 μ g/mL apoA-I for 24 h. To characterize

apoA-I-containing particles generated by HSF, fibroblast-conditioned media in the 35 mm dishes were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C to pellet cells and the supernatant was concentrated 10-fold by ultrafiltration (Amicon Ultra-4, MWCO 10000, Millipore). Media samples were kept on ice and used the same day or frozen at -80°C. Plasma HDL particles were separated according to the method of Asztalos et al. as previously described (68). HDL particles in equivalent volumes of concentrated apoA-Iconditioned media were separated according to the method of Castro and Fielding (166) except that in the second dimension, voltage was increased from 100V for 19 h to 125V for 24 h to increase the separation of the α -migrating HDL species. Briefly, 20 μ l samples were separated in the first dimension by 0.75% agarose gel in 50 mM barbital buffer, pH 8.6, at 200 V for 5.5 h at 5°C. Electrophoresis in the second dimension was performed with a 2-23% polyacrylamide concave gradient gel at 125 V for 24 h at 5°C in 0.025 M Tris, 0.192 M glycine buffer, pH 8.3. High molecular weight protein standards (7.1 to 17.0 nm, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) were run on each gel. Following electrophoresis, samples were electrotransferred (30 V, 24 h, 4° C) onto nitrocellulose membranes (Trans-Blot, BioRad). To locate the standard proteins, the nitrocellulose membranes were stained with Ponceau S and the position of each protein marked. ApoA-I-containing particles were detected by blotting the membranes with rabbit polyclonal anti-human apoA-I antibody (1:10,000) and a goat anti-rabbit IgG horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10,000). Membranes were extensively rinsed with TBS/T before chemiluminescent detection using the SuperSignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate (Pierce).

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Tyrosylated HDL requires ABCA1 to function

Cell culture studies have suggested that tyrHDL is capable of mobilizing cellular cholesterol for efflux from a pool that would otherwise be esterified into CE by ACAT (155). TyrHDL was also shown to have no direct inhibitory effect on the activity of ACAT in whole cell homogenate assays (155), or in increasing the rate of CE hydrolysis by neutral cholesteryl ester hydrolase (156), suggesting the effect of tyrHDL is to enhance the removal of the regulatory substrate pool of FC from the cholesteryl ester cycle rather than directly inhibiting or enhancing the activity of the enzymes in this cycle. This same regulatory pool of cholesterol is thought to be acted upon by ABCA1, the cell membrane transporter that mediates cholesterol transport to extracellular acceptor molecules (58, 73-75). The proposed function of ABCA1 in mobilizing cholesterol for HDL formation and the demonstrated actions of tyrHDL show several similarities. Hence, we first wondered whether tyrHDL required ABCA1 to function. To determine whether this was true, we performed the cholesterol esterification as xy - a measure of removal of the regulatory pool of cholesterol utilized by ACAT - in normal human skin fibroblasts (HSF), and in Tangier disease fibroblasts which lack functional ABCA1. In this assay, cholesterol-loaded cells were treated with albumin as control plus HDL or tyrHDL for 16 h to deplete the ACAT-substrate pool of cholesterol. Cells were then incubated with $\int^{14}C$ loleate, and the amount of cholestervl $\int^{14}C$ loleate formed in 1 h was measured by extraction of cellular lipids and determination of radioactivity in cell CE. Consistent with previous observations (155), normal HSF treated with tyrHDL formed significantly less radiolabeled CE than cells treated with HDL (Figure 3.1), suggesting enhanced depletion of the regulatory pool of cholesterol by tyrHDL in these cells. However, the enhanced removal of ACAT-accessible cholesterol by tyrHDL was not seen in either of the Tangier disease cell lines when compared to HDL (Figure 3.1), indicating that tyrHDL, at minimum, requires the presence of functional ABCA1 to perform its enhanced effect. The residual depletion of ACAT-accessible cholesterol by HDL and tyrHDL in Tangier disease cells is likely due to depletion of PM cholesterol by non-ABCA1-dependent mechanisms, e.g., passive diffusion, with depletion of some ACAT-accessible cholesterol to replenish PM cholesterol lost by these mechanisms.



Figure 3.1: Absence of enhanced cholesterol mobilization by tyrHDL from Tangier disease fibroblasts. HSF from a normal donor and two unrelated Tangier disease subjects (TD 1 and TD2) were grown to confluence, loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h, equilibrated for an additional 24 h, and incubated with medium containing 1 mg/mL albumin (control) plus the indicated concentrations of HDL or tyrHDL for 16 h. Cells were then washed and incubated with [¹⁴C]oleate for 1 h, washed, and cellular lipids extracted for determination of incorporation of label into [¹⁴C]cholesteryl ester, as a measure of the size of the cholesterol substrate pool for ACAT. Results are expressed as % of cholesterol esterification in non-HDL-containing medium. Avg±SD of quadruplicates, representative of 3 experiments.

3.2 Effect of tyrosylated HDL on ABCA1 mRNA and protein levels

The known ability of ABCA1 to mobilize ACAT-accessible cholesterol and the markedly enhanced ability of tyrHDL to induce removal of this ACAT substrate pool (**Figure 3.1**) suggested tyrHDL might be having a direct effect on ABCA1 expression and/or activity. Preliminary results from our laboratory suggested tyrHDL increases ABCA1 mRNA levels. To assess the effect of tyrHDL on ABCA1 expression, human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMC) were cholesterol loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol or not, and then treated with albumin as a control in the absence or presence of 10 μ g/mL HDL or tyrHDL for 2 or 16 h to assess early and later time points for the

exposure. Cholesterol loading increased ABCA1 mRNA levels, consistent with previous reports (Figure 3.2) (64, 76).



Figure 3.2: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 mRNA in human aortic smooth muscle cells. HASMC were grown to confluence and then cholesterol loaded or not with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h prior to treatment with albumin (B), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL HDL (H) or tyrHDL (T) for 2 or 16 h for determination of ABCA1 mRNA levels. Cyclophilin was used as loading control for reverse transcriptase-PCR. This is 1 experiment with no further repeats.

In all cases, cells treated with HDL resulted in lower ABCA1 mRNA levels when compared to incubations with albumin alone, consistent with the idea that as HDL passively removes cholesterol from intracellular stores, ABCA1 mRNA levels decrease (**Figure 3.2**) (64, 76). However, what was unexpected was that cells treated with tyrHDL for 2 h still retained high levels of ABCA1 mRNA when compared to cells treated with HDL (**Figure 3.2**), despite the apparent ability of tyrHDL to mobilize the regulatory pool of cholesterol utilized by ACAT. This was very apparent in the cholesterol-loaded cells treated with tyrHDL for 2 h. Similar results were seen when cells were treated with tyrHDL for 16 h, and again the effect was most pronounced in cholesterol-loaded cells (**Figure 3.2**). In all cases, ABCA1 mRNA levels remained high in cells incubated with albumin alone, as albumin is a relatively poor acceptor of cell cholesterol when compared to HDL.

Previous studies in our laboratory examining the effects of tyrHDL were carried out using HSF, which produced consistent and reliable results (155-157). Therefore, we also examined the effect of tyrHDL on ABCA1 mRNA levels in HSF. These experiments were done using a single time point of 16 h. Unfortunately, experiments utilizing HSF produced variable results that did not agree to those seen in HASMC. In experiment 1, cholesterol loading increased ABCA1 mRNA levels in HSF; however, in both cholesterol loaded and non-cholesterol-loaded cells, tyrHDL was not able to increase ABCA1 mRNA levels when compared to cells treated with HDL (**Figure 3.3**).



Figure 3.3: The effects of tyrHDL on ABCA1 mRNA in human skin fibroblasts. HSF were grown to confluence and then cholesterol loaded or not with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h prior to treatment with albumin (B), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL HDL (H) or tyrHDL (T) for 16 h for determination of ABCA1 mRNA levels. Cyclophilin was used as loading control for reverse transcriptase-PCR.

Variabilities were also seen in further experiments where there was an increase in ABCA1 mRNA in response to cholesterol loading, but no change in ABCA1 mRNA levels in HSF treated with albumin, HDL, or tyrHDL (**Figure 3.3**, experiment 2 and 3). Although our results with HASMC suggest a potential effect of tyrHDL on enhancing ABCA1 expression, our inability to reproduce this effect in HSF indicate further studies are required in HSF and other cell lines to know whether this is a general effect, or specific to HASMC.

Increased ABCA1 mRNA levels in HASMC treated with tyrHDL was associated with increased ABCA1 protein levels in these cells. Again, cholesterol-loading increases ABCA1 protein, and after 16 h of treatment with tyrHDL, both cholesterol-loaded and non-cholesterol-loaded HASMC showed increased ABCA1 protein when compared to cells treated with HDL, but this effect was more pronounced in cholesterol-loaded cells (**Figure 3.4**). In the cholesterol-loaded condition, HASMC treated with HDL had slightly higher ABCA1 protein than cells treated with albumin (**Figure 3.4**). This is different from that seen in ABCA1 mRNA when HASMC treated with HDL expressed less ABCA1 mRNA than cells treated with albumin after 16 h of treatment (**Figure 3.2**).



Figure 3.4: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein in human aortic smooth muscle cells. HASMC were grown to confluence and then cholesterol loaded or not with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h prior to treatment with albumin (B), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL HDL (H) or tyrHDL (T) for 16 h for determination of ABCA1 protein levels. PDI was used as loading control. * This band is likely non-specific.

Despite no definite increase in ABCA1 mRNA levels in HSF, our prior results with respect to the cholesterol esterification assay in response to tyrHDL suggested a likely effect of tyrHDL on ABCA1 activity in human fibroblasts. We therefore repeated our studies on the effects of tyrHDL on ABCA1 protein levels in HSF. Unlike HASMC, non-cholesterol-loaded HSF treated with tyrHDL showed no increase in ABCA1 protein compared to cells treated with HDL (**Figure 3.5**). However, similar to HASMC, cholesterol-loading increased basal ABCA1 protein levels in HSF, and in the cholesterol-loaded condition, treatment with tyrHDL yielded increased ABCA1 protein compared to

cells treated with HDL (**Figure 3.5**). Furthermore, cholesterol-loaded HSF treated with HDL expressed slightly higher levels of ABCA1 protein than those treated with albumin, which is consistent with our earlier findings in HASMC (**Figure 3.4**).



Figure 3.5: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein in human skin fibroblasts. HSF were grown to confluence and then cholesterol loaded or not with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h prior to treatment with albumin (B), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL HDL (H) or tyrHDL (T) for 16 h for determination of ABCA1 protein levels. Results shown are representative of two experiments with similar results.

Therefore, what has been consistent and reproducible is that the enhanced activity of tyrHDL on ABCA1 protein concentration can be demonstrated in HASMC and HSF, and this effect is more pronounced in the cholesterol-loaded condition, an environment that is representative of atherosclerotic lesions. It would seem that tyrHDL functions best in conditions of cholesterol loading; hence, all remaining experiments in the thesis were performed under conditions of excess cholesterol enrichment and using HSF unless otherwise stated.

3.3 Tyrosylated HDL requires LXR to function

The fact that tyrHDL was able to increase ABCA1 mRNA and protein in HASMC in non-cholesterol-loaded cells (Figure 3.2 and 3.4) had interesting potential implications. In cholesterol-depleted cells, the concentrations of oxysterols – metabolites of cholesterol and natural ligands of LXR – should be minimal. LXR is known to drive the transcription of the *ABCA1* gene (77, 78), however, our results would imply that tyrHDL might be functioning to increase ABCA1 expression and cholesterol mobilization in an LXR-independent manner. Earlier studies in our laboratory had

shown an ability of tyrHDL to further deplete ACAT-accessible cholesterol even in cells starved of cholesterol by growth to confluence in lipoprotein-deficient serum (Francis, G.A., unpublished data). This further suggested tyrHDL might be enhancing ABCA1 expression by an oxysterol- and therefore LXR-independent mechanism. To determine whether tyrHDL requires LXR to show its enhanced effect, we obtained mouse skin fibroblasts (MSF) deficient in both LXR α and β from Dr. David Mangelsdorf, University of Texas Southwestern, and compared these to mouse fibroblasts obtained from wild type mice of the same strain (C57BL/6) in their ability to release ACATaccessible cholesterol to tyrHDL. As seen with HSF (Figure 3.1) (155), wild-type MSF treated with tyrHDL showed increased depletion of the ACAT substrate pool of cholesterol available for esterification when compared to MSF treated with HDL (Figure **3.6**A). However, when MSF deficient in LXR α and β were treated with tyrHDL, there was less depletion of ACAT-accessible cholesterol than in cells treated with HDL (Figure 3.6B), suggesting that the enhanced ability of tyrHDL to deplete the ACATaccessible pool of cholesterol is indeed dependent on the availability of LXR. The difference in the ability of HDL and tyrHDL to mobilize cholesterol for efflux from LXR α - and β -deficient cells can be explained by the fact that HDL is a slightly better acceptor of cholesterol efflux by passive diffusion than is tyrHDL (156). There is an enhanced ability of normal HDL to deplete the ACAT-accessible pool of cholesterol in the LXR double knockout MSF (Figure 3.6B) than is normally seen (Figure 3.1 and 3.6A). Cells from the adrenal gland of LXR double knockout mice have been shown to express residual ABCA1 protein (167). The phenomenon seen with the marked ability of native HDL to deplete the ACAT substrate pool of cholesterol in the LXR double knockout MSF may come from increased apoprotein-dependent efflux due to apoproteins dissociating from the HDL surface – other studies we've done using ultracentrifugation show apoproteins dissociate more readily off HDL than tyrHDL (Francis, G.A., unpublished data). The effect that was lost however, is the ability of tyrHDL to mobilize the ACAT-accessible pool of cholesterol in MSF lacking both LXR isoforms. This may perhaps be due to the inability of tyrHDL to induce ABCA1 expression or increase ABCA1 protein in those cells.



Figure 3.6: TyrHDL activity requires the presence of LXR. LXR wildtype and LXR double knockout MSF were loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h, equilibrated for an additional 24 h, and incubated with medium containing 1 mg/mL albumin (control) plus the indicated concentrations of HDL or tyrHDL for 16 h. Cells were then washed and incubated with [¹⁴C]oleate for 1 h, washed, and cellular lipids extracted for determination of incorporation of label into [¹⁴C]cholesteryl ester, as a measure of the size of the cholesterol substrate pool for ACAT. Results are expressed as % of cholesterol esterification in non-HDL-containing medium. Avg±SD of triplicates, representative of 2 experiments with similar results.

3.4 Tyrosylated HDL stabilizes ABCA1 protein levels much like apoA-I

It has been reported that apoA-I is capable of protecting ABCA1 protein against calpain-mediated proteolysis, without affecting ABCA1 mRNA levels, thereby increasing ABCA1 protein (111, 112). HDL, on the other hand, does not exhibit this protective effect on stabilization of ABCA1 (111, 112). We had wondered whether tyrHDL was able to increase ABCA1 protein levels as much as apoA-I. To test whether tyrHDL can increase ABCA1 expression similar to apoA-I, normal HSF were cholesterol-loaded or not with non-lipoprotein cholesterol and then treated with either albumin alone or with addition of 10 µg/mL of apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL for 16 h, and crude membrane proteins extracted and probed for ABCA1 expression by Western blot. As a positive control, cholesterol-loaded HSF expressed greater ABCA1 protein as compared to their non-

cholesterol-loaded counterpart, while cells treated with apoA-I had increased ABCA1 protein expression compared to cells treated with albumin (**Figure 3.7**).



Figure 3.7: TyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein expression much like apoA-I in human skin fibroblasts. HSF were grown to confluence and then cholesterol loaded or not with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h prior to treatment with albumin (BSA), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL apoA-I (AI), HDL or tyrHDL (Tyr) for 16 h for determination of ABCA1 protein levels. PDI was used as loading control. Three independent experiments are shown with similar results.

Similarly, cells treated with tyrHDL expressed greater ABCA1 protein than cells treated with HDL (**Figure 3.7**), suggesting that tyrHDL can increase ABCA1 protein much like apoA-I.

3.5 Possible effects of tyrHDL on cell surface ABCA1 expression

ApoA-I has been reported to increase total and cell surface ABCA1 protein levels (113). To determine whether the increase in total ABCA1 protein in cells exposed to tyrHDL (Figures 3.4, 3.5 and 3.7) is also associated with increased cell surface ABCA1,

biotinylation experiments were performed. Cholesterol-loaded HSF were treated with either albumin alone or with addition of 10 μ g/mL apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL for 16 h. Cells were then biotinylated to label cell surface proteins. Total and biotinylated cell surface ABCA1 were isolated and probed for ABCA1 levels by Western blot. The results I obtained between two individual experiments were inconsistent. Experiment 1 revealed that apoA-I is able to increase total ABCA1 relative to control, but there was no difference in the ability between HDL and tyrHDL to influence ABCA1 protein expression (**Figure 3.8**).



Figure 3.8: Total and cell surface expression of ABCA1 from human skin fibroblasts treated with tyrHDL. HSF were grown to confluence and then cholesterol loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h prior to treatment with albumin (BSA), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL apoA-I (AI), HDL or tyrHDL (Tyr) for 16 h. Cells were then biotinylated and total and cell surface ABCA1 levels were determined by Western blotting. Two independent experiments are shown.

In fact, cells treated with apoA-I, HDL and tyrHDL expressed similar levels of total ABCA1, a finding that contradicts our previous results (**Figure 3.7**). Experiment 1 also showed that cells treated with apoA-I or tyrHDL expressed less cell surface ABCA1 than cells treated with albumin or HDL, respectively (**Figure 3.8**). This was unexpected because apoA-I was our positive control and should have caused an increase in cell surface ABCA1 (113). Experiment 2 revealed that there was not much difference in the ability of apoA-I, HDL or tyrHDL to influence total or cell surface ABCA1 expression relative to control. Interestingly, PDI, an endoplasmic reticulum protein was also isolated

in the fraction of cell surface proteins, suggesting contamination by cytoplasmic proteins, despite the fact that HSP90, a cytoplasmic protein, did not coelute with the cell surface fraction. In the absence of the expected increase in total and cell surface ABCA1 protein in response to apoA-I (113), our positive control, we cannot conclude from these experiments whether or not the increase in total cell ABCA1 seen in response to tyrHDL in **Figure 3.7**, where apoA-I did have the expected effect on total cell ABCA1, also results in increased cell surface ABCA1. Further repeats of this experiment where the expected results with apoA-I are also seen are required to resolve this question.

3.6 Tyrosylated HDL directly cross-links to ABCA1

Numerous studies using the chemical cross-linker dithiobis(succinimidyl propionate) (DSP) have suggested that apoA-I can directly bind to ABCA1, whereas HDL does not (93, 98, 106). We were curious to determine whether the enhanced ability of tyrHDL to redirect cellular cholesterol for efflux correlates with its ability to directly interact with ABCA1. We had theorized that the activity of tyrHDL did not depend on its ability to directly bind to ABCA1, because native HDL was shown not to directly crosslink to ABCA1 (98). In addition, our lab had previously found that apoproteins on the surface of tyrHDL dissociate less readily from the particle surface than from HDL when exposed to high speed ultracentrifugation (data not shown), suggesting a lesser ability of tyrHDL to release free apoproteins for interaction with ABCA1. To test this hypothesis, cholesterol-loaded HSF were treated with 5 µM of the LXR agonist TO-901317 to upregulate cell surface ABCA1 protein expression. The cells were then incubated with either albumin alone or with addition of 10 µg/mL of apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL for 2 h, the cells extensively washed, and then incubated with DSP for an additional 1 h. Cells were then washed and whole cell lysate was isolated and proteins were separated by a 4-20% SDS-PAGE and the presence of an apoA-I/ABCA1 cross-link was assessed by Western blot with an anti-apoA-I antibody, the membrane stripped, and then reprobed with an anti-ABCA1 antibody on the same nitrocellulose membrane. Any bands that overlap between the two blots at the expected molecular weight would suggest an apoA-I/ABCA1 cross-link. As expected, apoA-I was able to cross-link to ABCA1 with an estimated molecular weight of 250-280 kDa (Figure 3.9A).



Anti-ApoAI

Anti-ABCA1

Figure 3.9: TyrHDL cross-links with ABCA1. HSF were grown to confluence and then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated with 5 μ M of the LXR agonist TO-901317 for an additional 24 h to upregulate ABCA1 protein expression. The cells were then treated with albumin (BSA), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL apoA-I (AI), HDL or tyrHDL (Tyr) for 2 h, cells washed, and then incubated with 250 μ M DSP for 1 h. Whole cell lysates were isolated, ran on a 4-20% gradient SDS-PAGE, and then probed for the presence of (A) apoA-I and (B) ABCA1 by Western blot. 5% βmercaptoethanol (β-ME) was used to cleave any apoA-I-ABCA1 cross-links. AI-ABCA1 indicates an apoA-I/ABCA1 cross-link. Results are representative of 3 separate experiments with similar results.

In the presence of β -mercaptoethanol, a reducing agent capable of cleaving the cross-link, free apoA-I was released, which migrated to its expected molecular weight of 28 kDa (**Figure 3.9A**). HDL failed to cross-link to ABCA1 (98) as expected (**Figure 3.9A**). Surprisingly, tyrHDL, like apoA-I, was able to cross-link to ABCA1 and addition of β -mercaptoethanol resulted in a faint banding pattern of tyrHDL protein bands (**Figure 3.9A**). Further repeats of this experiment confirmed the binding of tyrHDL to ABCA1. However, additional experiments are required to demonstrate more clearly the appearance of tyrHDL protein bands upon dissociation of tyrHDL from ABCA1. **Figure 3.9B** illustrates that ABCA1 is present in all conditions, which was expected. The

appearance of the ABCA1 protein band changes upon addition of β -mercaptoethanol, for reasons that are unknown.

3.7 Tyrosylated HDL depletes cellular cholesterol much like apoA-I

Since tyrHDL has an enhanced ability to mobilize cholesterol for efflux (156), we wanted to assess whether tvrHDL can stimulate the formation of HDL particles from fibroblasts as determined by 2-dimensional gel electrophoresis. To evaluate the ability of tyrHDL to stimulate HDL particle formation, cholesterol-loaded HSF were pretreated with either albumin alone or with addition of 10 µg/mL apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL for 24 h. The ability of this pretreatment to mobilize cholesterol to the PM for efflux to apoA-I was then assessed by washing the cells and incubating with 10 µg/mL of apoA-I for an additional 24 h to remove the cholesterol that was previously mobilized for efflux to generate HDL particles. The media were then collected, concentrated, and the types of HDL particles formed assessed by 2-dimensional gel electrophoresis and Western blot analysis. Fibroblasts pretreated with apoA-I generated less α -migrating HDL particles than cells pretreated with albumin (Figure 3.10), which was expected as the initial pretreatment with apoA-I would have depleted some of the cellular lipids that would have subsequently been removed by the chase apoA-I to form HDL particles. Fibroblasts pretreated with tyrHDL showed a similar pattern of α -HDL particle formation as cells pretreated with apoA-I, but less α -HDL than cells pretreated with albumin alone or HDL (Figure 3.10). This suggested an increased removal of cellular lipids during the initial incubation with tyrHDL, as seen with apoA-I. In addition, there was the appearance of a pre- β HDL species in cells pretreated with tyrHDL and subsequently incubated with apoA-I, suggesting a possible increase in formation of these particles in response to tyrHDL.


Figure 3.10: Formation of HDL particle species following pretreatment with tyrHDL. HSF were grown to confluence and then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h. The cells were then pretreated with albumin (BSA), or albumin plus 10 μ g/mL apoA-I, HDL or tyrHDL for 24 h, cells washed, and then chased with 10 μ g/mL free apoA-I for 24 h. The media were then collected, concentrated, and then analyzed for HDL particle species by 2-dimensional gel electrophoresis. Results are representative of 2 separate experiments with similar results.

However, this band may simply be free apoA-I, which migrates at pre- β mobility. These results suggest that tyrHDL is able to mobilize and stimulate the active efflux of cholesterol from cells much like apoA-I. Further repeats of this experiment are required to confirm these results.

3.8 Further work done in our laboratory

3.8.1 Protein fragments of tyrHDL can effectively mobilize cholesterol for efflux

Small peptide fragments modeled on the secondary structure of apoA-I have been shown to effectively reduce atherosclerosis in animal models (52, 53). Administration of tyrHDL into apoE-deficient mice resulted in elevations of endogenous HDL while protecting them against atherosclerosis (158). Consequently, we had wondered whether proteolytic fragments of tyrHDL would have similar activity as intact tyrHDL.



Figure 3.11: Full retention of cholesterol removal capacity by trypsinized tyrHDL. (A) HDL or tyrHDL were incubated in the absence or presence of trypsin for 30 min prior to analysis by SDS-PAGE gel with silver stain. (B) HSF were grown to confluence, loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h, equilibrated for an additional 24 h, and incubated with medium containing 1 mg/mL albumin (control) plus the indicated concentrations of intact HDL, tyrHDL or trypsinized HDL or tyrHDL for 16 h. Cells were then washed and incubated with [¹⁴C]oleate for 1 h, washed, and cellular lipids extracted for determination of incorporation of label into [¹⁴C]cholesteryl ester, as a measure of the size of the cholesterol substrate pool for ACAT. Results are relative to cholesterol esterification in non-HDL-containing medium. Avg \pm SD of triplicates, representative of 4 experiments. Francis, G.A., unpublished data.

To investigate this idea, HDL and tyrHDL were subjected to a brief period of trypsinization to partially digest surface apoproteins, and the ability of the re-isolated digested and undigested particles to deplete ACAT-accessible cholesterol were determined. Trypsinization of control HDL or tyrHDL resulted in the elimination of any intact apoprotein monomer and oligomers as well as apoAI-AII heterodimer bands (**Figure 3.11A**). It was discovered that trypsinized HDL mobilizes cholesterol less effectively than intact HDL, however trypsinized tyrHDL lost none of its ability to promote the removal of ACAT-accessible cholesterol when compared to intact tyrHDL (**Figure 3.11B**). This suggests that the tryptic fragments of tyrHDL proteins retain the same ability to mobilize cellular cholesterol as intact apoAI-AII heterodimers.

3.8.2 Trypsinized tyrHDL do not bind to fibroblasts

Since trypsin treatment of tyrHDL does not affect the ability of tyrHDL to induce cholesterol mobilization from cells, we tested whether trypsin-treated tyrHDL retains its ability to bind to cells as effectively as intact tyrHDL. Cholesterol-loaded fibroblasts were incubated with HDL, tyrHDL, or trypsinized HDL and tyrHDL at 4°C for 3 h, washed, and then incubated with ¹²⁵I-HDL for 1 h at 4°C to assess competition for binding of unlabeled lipoproteins with ¹²⁵I-HDL. We showed that intact tyrHDL competes less well than intact HDL in total cell binding assays, and that both trypsinized HDL and trypsinized tyrHDL lose their ability to bind to cells (**Figure 3.12**). The ability of trypsinized tyrHDL to promote depletion of the ACAT substrate pool similar to intact tyrHDL (**Figure 3.11B**) combined with the binding data suggests the enhanced effect of tyrHDL is not dependent on a strong binding interaction with ABCA1 or other potential HDL apoprotein binding sites on the surface of cholesterol-loaded fibroblasts.



Figure 3.12: Binding of intact and trypsinized tyrHDL to human skin fibroblasts. HSF were grown to confluence and then loaded with non-lipoprotein cholesterol for 24 h and equilibrated for an additional 24 h. The cells were then incubated with HDL, tyrHDL, trypsinized HDL, or trypsinized tyrHDL at 0°C for 3 h, washed, and incubated with ¹²⁵I-HDL for 1 h at 0°C to assess competition for binding of unlabeled lipoproteins with ¹²⁵I-HDL. Avg. of duplicates, representative of 3 experiments. Francis, G.A., unpublished data.

CHAPTER 4: Discussion and Future Directions

We had previously shown that tyrHDL has a markedly enhanced ability when compared to HDL to mobilize cellular pools of cholesterol for efflux that would otherwise be esterified for storage into CE (155, 156). This effect of tyrHDL occurs even before cholesterol is effluxed out of cells (156), suggesting that tyrHDL stimulates an active process that shuttles cholesterol from the ACAT-accessible pool to an efflux-accessible pool on the PM. Interestingly, ABCA1 – the membrane protein that facilitates the export of cellular cholesterol to apoproteins – has also been shown to act in a similar fashion (58, 73-75). Studies completed for this thesis suggest the actions of tyrHDL require the presence of ABCA1, that tyrHDL increases ABCA1 protein and possibly mRNA levels, that tyrHDL, like apoA-I, stabilizes ABCA1 protein levels, and that tyrHDL, also like apoA-I but unlike HDL, is capable of being bound to ABCA1 by a cross-linking agent.

We wanted to determine whether tyrHDL required ABCA1 to function. Evidence for the requirement of functional ABCA1 for the action of tyrHDL was provided by studies showing a lack of enhancement of cholesterol mobilization by tyrHDL when compared to HDL in two fibroblast cell lines obtained from Tangier disease patients (**Figure 3.1**). The low level of residual cholesterol mobilization from Tangier disease cells can be explained by non-ABCA1-dependent efflux to HDL and tyrHDL from these cells (58).

Further studies suggested that cultured HASMC treated with tyrHDL showed persistence of ABCA1 mRNA expression (Figure 3.2). These results appeared in cells loaded with excess cholesterol or not, and despite the fact that tyrHDL is much better than HDL at removing the pool of cholesterol that upregulates ABCA1 expression. The normal response to the removal of cellular cholesterol by HDL is a rapid decrease in ABCA1 mRNA (64, 76), however ABCA1 mRNA in HASMC persists even after 16 h of incubation with tyrHDL (Figure 3.2). ABCA1 mRNA levels correlated well with ABCA1 protein levels in HASMC. HASMC treated with tyrHDL also showed increased ABCA1 protein in both cholesterol-loaded and non-cholesterol-loaded cells when compared to HDL (Figure 3.4). This is consistent with the idea that the enhanced activity of tyrHDL to mobilize cholesterol for efflux is due to an increased expression of ABCA1, the membrane transporter responsible for cholesterol efflux. As far as we know,

this is the first report of a modified HDL particle that is capable of increasing ABCA1 mRNA AND protein expression. In the cholesterol-loaded condition, HASMC treated with HDL had slightly higher ABCA1 protein than cells treated with albumin (**Figure 3.4**). Free apoA-I has been shown to prevent calpain-mediated proteolysis of ABCA1 without affecting ABCA1 mRNA levels, thereby increasing total ABCA1 protein (111, 112). Perhaps cells treated with HDL express slightly higher levels of ABCA1 protein than cells treated with albumin because some dissociation of apoA-I from the HDL particles can stabilize ABCA1 from calpain degradation. In the future, it would be of interest to determine whether there is a time and concentration-dependent effect of tyrHDL on ABCA1 mRNA levels in HSF treated with tyrHDL when compared to HDL (**Figure 3.3**). Because the ability of tyrHDL to retain ABCA1 mRNA expression seen in HASMC was not reproducible in HSF, it suggests that this effect of tyrHDL may only be specific to HASMC. Further experiments to assess whether this effect can be generalized to other cell types including HSF will need to be performed.

Similar to HASMC, however, ABCA1 protein levels were increased in HSF treated with tyrHDL (**Figure 3.5**). In the cholesterol-loaded condition, tyrHDL was able to increase ABCA1 protein in HSF when compared to cells treated with HDL alone (**Figure 3.5**). However, this effect did not occur in non-cholesterol loaded HSF, but was observed in HASMC in non-cholesterol loaded cells (**Figure 3.4 vs Figure 3.5**). Therefore, what seems to be consistent and reproducible between the two cell lines is the ability of tyrHDL to increase ABCA1 protein in cholesterol-loaded cells, suggesting that tyrHDL functions best under conditions of excess cellular cholesterol. This is desirable because cells in atherosclerotic lesions are typically enriched with cholesterol.

ApoA-I has been reported to have no effect on ABCA1 mRNA levels but can protect ABCA1 against calpain proteolysis, thereby retaining higher ABCA1 protein levels compared with cells treated with albumin or HDL (111, 112). We also found that tyrHDL was able to retain ABCA1 protein levels much like apoA-I (**Figure 3.7**), suggesting that tyrHDL may also increase ABCA1 protein by inhibiting the degradation of ABCA1 by the calpain protease. It has been shown that an ABCA1 mutant lacking a PEST sequence is resistant to calpain-mediated degradation (112, 113). Experiments to determine whether tyrHDL can protect ABCA1 from calpain proteolysis would entail transfecting human embryonic kidney cells with wildtype ABCA1 or ABCA1 lacking the PEST sequence, and treating these cells with tyrHDL. We would expect tyrHDL to stabilize ABCA1 from calpain degradation in cells transfected with wildtype ABCA1, but should have no effect on the mutant ABCA1. Another experiment would be to test the susceptibility of those transfected cells to increasing concentrations of exogenous calpain after pretreatment with tyrHDL. Again, tyrHDL should stabilize the wildtype ABCA1 from calpain degradation.

Studies have shown that apoA-I can increase total and cell surface ABCA1 protein expression (113), thereby enhancing ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux. Since tyrHDL is able to increase total ABCA1 protein, we had wanted to determine whether it can also increase cell surface ABCA1 expression. My experiments examining the effect of tyrHDL on cell surface ABCA1 levels yielded inconsistent data. The first experiment revealed that HSF treated with HDL (our negative control) expressed similar or even slightly higher levels of total and cell surface ABCA1 than cells treated with apoA-I [our positive control, (113)] and tyrHDL (Figure 3.8). Experiment 2 showed that there was not much difference in the ability of apoA-I, HDL, or tyrHDL to influence total or cell surface ABCA1 protein when compared to albumin treatment alone (Figure 3.8). These results are inconsistent with apoA-I [(113) and Figure 3.7] and tyrHDL (Figure 3.4, 3.5 and 3.7) both increasing total ABCA1 protein in HASMC and HSF when compared to cells treated with albumin or HDL. Since our positive and negative controls did not work, it can be assumed that the results from these experiments are invalid and that repeat experiments where our controls show the expected results are necessary to answer whether tyrHDL can increase cell surface expression of ABCA1. Furthermore, the presence of PDI (an endoplasmic reticulum protein) in the cell surface fraction indicates contamination of this fraction by intracellular proteins. These inconsistent findings may be explained by the methodology. The manufacturer of the biotinylation kit required the use of 2.5-3.5 mg of total cell protein, whereas we were only able to use 0.5-0.8 mg total due to the limitations of the cell type that were utilized. Other studies assessing the expression of cell surface ABCA1 were done by biotinylating all cell surface proteins, isolating biotinylated ABCA1 by immunoprecipitation with ABCA1 antibody, followed

by SDS-PAGE and detection of biotinylated ABCA1 by streptavidin and total ABCA1 with ABCA1 antibody. Perhaps the use of this method in our studies may generate data that are more consistent to our findings and those of other groups.

We have demonstrated that tyrHDL is capable of depleting cellular pools of cholesterol even in non-cholesterol-loaded cells – a condition whereby the concentrations of oxysterols would be minimal. In addition, we have found the enhanced activity of tyrHDL is due to its protein rather than lipid components (157), suggesting the action of tyrHDL is not due to it delivering oxysterols or other oxidized lipids to cells. In combination, these results suggest tyrHDL is enhancing ABCA1 activity by an oxysterol-, and therefore possibly LXR-, independent mechanism. However, experiments using LXR α - and β -deficient mouse fibroblasts suggest otherwise. When these fibroblasts were treated with tyrHDL and assessed for their ability to mobilize ACAT-accessible cholesterol, this effect was less than in cells treated with HDL (Figure **3.6B**). However, tyrHDL was more effective than HDL in normal MSF (Figure 3.6A). This indicates that tyrHDL indeed requires LXR for its enhanced activity. HDL is a slightly better acceptor of cholesterol efflux by passive diffusion than is tyrHDL (156), which likely explains why HDL was better than tyrHDL at mobilizing ACAT-accessible cholesterol from LXR α - and β -deficient fibroblasts (Figure 3.6B). As well, the marked ability of HDL to deplete the ACAT accessible pool of cholesterol in mouse fibroblasts lacking both LXR isoforms may be due to the dissociation of some apoproteins from the HDL particles, which can then act as cholesterol acceptors. Perhaps tyrHDL was not able to efficiently mobilize cholesterol for efflux in LXR double knockout mouse fibroblasts because tyrHDL was not able to upregulate ABCA1 expression in those cells. An appealing future study would be to examine the effects of tyrHDL on ABCA mRNA and protein levels in the LXR α - and β -deficient fibroblasts. We would expect that tyrHDL would not increase ABCA1 expression in those fibroblasts. We do not believe that tyrHDL has an effect on LXR activity or expression, but rather only a requirement for LXR. To confirm this, we could examine the levels of LXR mRNA by Northern blot analysis or real-time PCR upon treatment of normal fibroblasts with tyrHDL. It could be that tyrHDL requires the function of LXR downstream from its role as a regulator of transcription. Since the active component of tyrHDL is the apoprotein fraction, and not

the oxidized lipids (157), it is unlikely that tyrHDL is delivering oxysterols to cells for the upregulation of ABCA1 transcription by LXR. Perhaps LXR is regulating the transcription of a gene that encodes a partner protein required for ABCA1 to function. However, no ABCA1-partner protein that is regulated at the transcriptional level by LXR has yet been identified; this theory is purely speculative at this time.

The ability of tyrHDL to directly interact with ABCA1 was assessed with crosslinking studies, much like those of apoA-I with ABCA1. We confirmed that HDL is not capable of cross-linking to ABCA1 whereas free apoA-I is capable of doing so (Figure 3.9), consistent with another report (98), and that intact tyrHDL is also able to cross-link to ABCA1 at a distance of <1.2 nm. The ability of tyrHDL to cross-link to ABCA1 occurs despite the fact that intact tyrHDL is a somewhat less efficient competitor for binding to cells than is HDL (Figure 3.12). The interaction of apoA-I with cells and hence possibly with ABCA1 have been shown to elicit a signal transduction response that includes activation of protein kinase A (168), protein kinase C (169), and Janus kinase 2 (170) for apoA-I-mediated stimulation of cholesterol efflux (Figure 4.1A). Free apoproteins are thought to be natural ligands of ABCA1 (98). Thus it is likely that the apoproteins of tyrHDL, much like free apoA-I, can directly and physically bind ABCA1 in a manner that stabilizes ABCA1 from degradation by calpain protease (Figure 3.7), thereby enhancing cholesterol mobilization and efflux. TyrHDL apoproteins are likely less exchangeable than HDL apoproteins due to tethering of apoA-I by the more lipophillic apoA-II to the tyrHDL particle surface (157). Therefore, a model for the interaction of tyrHDL with ABCA1 can be envisioned whereby apoA-I is exposed and "extended" away from the tyrHDL particle, but still tethered to apoA-II that is sitting on the surface of the particle (Figure 4.1C). The "extended" apoA-I may then assume a more lipid-poor apoA-I conformation and directly interact with ABCA1. Normal HDL is unable to directly interact with ABCA1, possibly because its apoproteins assume an open conformation when lipidated on the HDL particle surface, rather than a free- or more lipid-poor conformation of apoA-I on the tyrHDL particle surface (Figure 4.1B). Whether or not this ability of tyrHDL to interact directly with ABCA1 is responsible for the enhanced stabilization of ABCA1 protein and increase in ABCA1 activity requires further investigation.

Trypsin fragments of tyrHDL proteins did not bind to the cell surface of cholesterol-loaded fibroblasts when compared to intact HDL (Figure 3.12), yet their ability to deplete the pool of cholesterol available for esterification – a process that is thought to be mediated by ABCA1 – was not lost (Figure 3.11). These results imply that trypsin fragments of tyrHDL are capable of enhancing ABCA1 activity, possibly through



Figure 4.1. Models for the interaction of apoA-I, HDL, tyrHDL and trypsinized HDL with ABCA1. (A) Free apoA-I directly binds ABCA1 to elicit a signaling cascade that involves protein kinase A (PKA), and/or protein kinase C (PKC), and/or Janus kinase 2 (JAK 2) for the stabilization of ABCA1 from calpain-mediated degradation and/or an increase in the expression or activity of ABCA1 protein. (B) HDL does not directly bind to ABCA1, so that a signaling cascade is not induced. (C) The apoA-I of tyrHDL is complexed to apoA-II in such a way that apoA-I is extended from the tyrHDL surface where it may directly bind ABCA1 to elicit a signaling cascade much like free apoA-I. (D) Fragments of trypsinized tyrHDL may not directly bind to ABCA1 to elicit a signaling cascade for the stabilization of ABCA1 and/or increasing ABCA1 to elicit a signaling cascade for the stabilization of ABCA1 and/or increasing ABCA1 protein or activity. * Denotes inability to cross-link to ABCA1.

inhibition of calpain-dependent proteolysis, by a mechanism that does not require a direct ABCA1-apoprotein binding interaction (**Figure 4.1D and E**). They also suggest the action of intact tyrHDL in enhancing ABCA1 activity is not dependent on a direct

tyrHDL-ABCA1 interaction. It has been shown that binding of apoA-I to the cell surface activates a signal cascade involving many kinases (168-170). Interestingly, Tang and colleagues demonstrated that synthetic amphipathic helical apoprotein mimetic peptides and apoA-I can stabilize ABCA1 in the absence of an active Janus kinase 2, even though Janus kinase 2 is required for apoprotein cross-linking and cholesterol efflux (171). This would suggest that the stabilization of ABCA1 does not require the direct binding of amphipathic helical proteins such as apoA-I to ABCA1 (171). It could be that trypsinized fragments of tyrHDL apoproteins stimulate similar signal transduction pathways as intact apoA-I without having a direct relationship with ABCA1 (**Figure 4.1E**). Further studies are required to determine the effects of trypsinized tyrHDL on ABCA1 mRNA and protein levels.

We had known previously through cell culture experiments employing radiolabeled cholesterol that tyrHDL has an enhanced ability to mobilize cholesterol for efflux even before the initial removal of cholesterol from cells (156). Removal of this cholesterol was dependent on adequate concentrations of acceptor particles in the medium, those higher than 10 μ g/mL, because there is little difference in the ability of tyrHDL or HDL to accept cholesterol by passive diffusion when concentrations of these lipoproteins are 10 μ g/mL or less (156). It was therefore surprising to discover that when cholesterol-loaded HSF were initially treated with 10 µg/mL of HDL or tyrHDL and then chased with 10 µg/mL of apoA-I, the media from cells pre-treated with tyrHDL contained less α -migrating HDL particles than media from cells pre-treated with HDL (Figure 3.10). This indicated that some of the cellular cholesterol had already been mobilized and removed during the initial incubation with tyrHDL. A similar decrease in the amount of α -migrating HDL particles was also seen in cells pretreated with 10 μ g/mL of free apoA-I (Figure 3.10). Since tyrHDL does not have an increased ability to mediate PL efflux when compared to HDL (156), the HDL formed during the chase period with apoA-I must be cholesterol enriched after preincubation with tyrHDL. This would imply that like apoA-I, tyrHDL has an enhanced ability to redistribute AND promote cholesterol efflux even at low concentrations ($\leq 10 \,\mu g/mL$). It was interesting to observe that in this cell culture system, HDL particles exhibiting α -electrophoretic mobility (α -migrating HDL particles) were formed in the absence of LCAT, which

normally esterifies free cholesterol on the surface of HDL particles into cholesterol esters that migrate to the center of the particle to form spherical HDL particles. These α migrating HDL particles have also been reported by another group using similar methods (105). However, these α -migrating particles are likely discoidal rather than spherical, and the fact that they migrate as α particles may only reflect their PL content, since another study using similar methods and cell type have shown that these particles are rich in phosphatidylinositol that migrate with α -electrophoretic mobility (105). The reason for the discrepancy in the results with respect to cholesterol mobilization versus actual cholesterol efflux in the methods using radiolabeled cholesterol and the 2D-gel electrophoresis system is not known. Further experiments are required to confirm these results. It will also be interesting to examine the lipid composition of the HDL particles produced in the medium by fractionating and isolating the HDL particles through density gradient ultracentrifugation.

The ability of tyrHDL to increase ABCA1 expression and consequently RCT has therapeutic implications. We do not envision the administration of whole tyrHDL particles or to increase tyrosyl oxidation *in vivo* for the treatment of atherosclerosis, but rather to understand effects of tyrHDL to develop potential new treatments. The fact that trypsin fragments of tyrHDL have the same activity as intact tyrHDL to mobilize cholesterol for efflux suggests administration of peptide fragments or mimetics of tyrHDL is a promising therapeutic approach. The use of apoA-I mimetic peptides such as the D-4F peptide has been reported to reduce atherosclerosis in animal models; however the mechanism of action of these peptides is thought to be by inhibiting apoA-I oxidation and thereby reducing inflammation in atherosclerotic lesions (52, 53, 172). The use of peptide fragments of tyrHDL may be far better than the D-4F peptide in that tyrHDL fragments may directly influence ABCA1 expression and hence the RCT pathway.

References

- 1. Murray, C.J., and Lopez, A.D. 1997. Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* 349:1269-1276.
- 2. Okrainec, K., Banerjee, D.K., and Eisenberg, M.J. 2004. Coronary artery disease in the developing world. *Am Heart J* 148:7-15.
- 3. Ross, R. 1993. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. *Nature* 362:801-809.
- 4. Ross, R., and Glomset, J.A. 1973. Atherosclerosis and the arterial smooth muscle cell: Proliferation of smooth muscle is a key event in the genesis of the lesions of atherosclerosis. *Science* 180:1332-1339.
- 5. Ross, R. 1999. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. *N Engl J Med* 340:115-126.
- 6. Hansson, G.K. 2005. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 352:1685-1695.
- 7. Grundy, S.M. 1990. *Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis: Diagnosis and Treatment*. New York: Gower Medical Publishing.
- 8. Barter, P., Kastelein, J., Nunn, A., and Hobbs, R. 2003. High density lipoproteins (HDLs) and atherosclerosis; the unanswered questions. *Atherosclerosis* 168:195-211.
- 9. Oram, J.F. 2003. HDL apolipoproteins and ABCA1: partners in the removal of excess cellular cholesterol. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23:720-727.
- 10. Frank, P.G., and Marcel, Y.L. 2000. Apolipoprotein A-I: structure-function relationships. *J Lipid Res* 41:853-872.
- 11. Tailleux, A., Duriez, P., Fruchart, J.C., and Clavey, V. 2002. Apolipoprotein A-II, HDL metabolism and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 164:1-13.
- 12. Segrest, J.P., Jones, M.K., De Loof, H., Brouillette, C.G., Venkatachalapthi, Y.V., and Anantharamaiah, G.M. 1992. The amphipathic helix in the exchangeable apoliproteins: A review of secondary structure and function. *Journal of Lipid Research* 33:141-166.
- 13. Duchateau, P.N., Pullinger, C.R., Orellana, R.E., Kunitake, S.T., Naya-Vigne, J., O'Connor, P.M., Malloy, M.J., and Kane, J.P. 1997. Apolipoprotein L, a new human high density lipoprotein apolipoprotein expressed by the pancreas. Identification, cloning, characterization, and plasma distribution of apolipoprotein L. *J Biol Chem* 272:25576-25582.
- 14. Rye, K.A., and Barter, P.J. 2004. Formation and metabolism of prebetamigrating, lipid-poor apolipoprotein A-I. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 24:421-428.
- 15. Assmann, G., and Gotto, A.M., Jr. 2004. HDL cholesterol and protective factors in atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 109:III8-14.
- 16. Kuivenhoven, J.A., Pritchard, H., Hill, J., Frohlich, J., Assmann, G., and Kastelein, J. 1997. The molecular pathology of lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) deficiency syndromes. *J Lipid Res* 38:191-205.

- 17. Lewis, G.F., and Rader, D.J. 2005. New insights into the regulation of HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport. *Circ Res* 96:1221-1232.
- 18. Francis, G.A., and Perry, R.J. 1999. Targeting HDL-mediated cellular cholesterol efflux for the treatment and prevention of atherosclerosis. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 286:219-230.
- 19. Inazu, A., Jiang, X.C., Haraki, T., Yagi, K., Kamon, N., Koizumi, J., Mabuchi, H., Takeda, R., Takata, K., Moriyama, Y., et al. 1994. Genetic cholesteryl ester transfer protein deficiency caused by two prevalent mutations as a major determinant of increased levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 94:1872-1882.
- 20. Ikewaki, K., Nishiwaki, M., Sakamoto, T., Ishikawa, T., Fairwell, T., Zech, L.A., Nagano, M., Nakamura, H., Brewer, H.B., Jr., and Rader, D.J. 1995. Increased catabolic rate of low density lipoproteins in humans with cholesteryl ester transfer protein deficiency. *J Clin Invest* 96:1573-1581.
- 21. Curb, J.D., Abbott, R.D., Rodriguez, B.L., Masaki, K., Chen, R., Sharp, D.S., and Tall, A.R. 2004. A prospective study of HDL-C and cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene mutations and the risk of coronary heart disease in the elderly. *J Lipid Res* 45:948-953.
- Hirano, K., Yamashita, S., Kuga, Y., Sakai, N., Nozaki, S., Kihara, S., Arai, T., Yanagi, K., Takami, S., Menju, M., et al. 1995. Atherosclerotic disease in marked hyperalphalipoproteinemia. Combined reduction of cholesteryl ester transfer protein and hepatic triglyceride lipase. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 15:1849-1856.
- 23. Zhong, S., Sharp, D.S., Grove, J.S., Bruce, C., Yano, K., Curb, J.D., and Tall, A.R. 1996. Increased coronary heart disease in Japanese-American men with mutation in the cholestryl ester transfer protein gene despite increased HDL levels. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 97:2917-2923.
- 24. Huuskonen, J., Olkkonen, V.M., Jauhiainen, M., and Ehnholm, C. 2001. The impact of phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) on HDL metabolism. *Atherosclerosis* 155:269-281.
- 25. Curtiss, L.K., Valenta, D.T., Hime, N.J., and Rye, K.A. 2006. What is so special about apolipoprotein AI in reverse cholesterol transport? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 26:12-19.
- 26. Nong, Z., Gonzalez-Navarro, H., Amar, M., Freeman, L., Knapper, C., Neufeld, E.B., Paigen, B.J., Hoyt, R.F., Fruchart-Najib, J., and Santamarina-Fojo, S. 2003. Hepatic lipase expression in macrophages contributes to atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient and LCAT-transgenic mice. *J Clin Invest* 112:367-378.
- 27. Mezdour, H., Jones, R., Dengremont, C., Castro, G., and Maeda, N. 1997. Hepatic lipase deficiency increases plasma cholesterol but reduces susceptibility to atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *J Biol Chem* 272:13570-13575.
- 28. Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. 1986. A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. *Science* 232:34-47.
- 29. Goldstein, J.L., DeBose-Boyd, R.A., and Brown, M.S. 2006. Protein sensors for membrane sterols. *Cell* 124:35-46.

- Yusuf, S., Hawken, S., Ounpuu, S., Dans, T., Avezum, A., Lanas, F., McQueen, M., Budaj, A., Pais, P., Varigos, J., et al. 2004. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *Lancet* 364:937-952.
- 31. Boden, W.E. 2000. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol as an independent risk factor in cardiovascular disease: assessing the data from Framingham to the Veterans Affairs High--Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial. *Am J Cardiol* 86:19L-22L.
- Gordon, D.J., Probstfield, J.L., Garrison, R.J., Neaton, J.D., Castelli, W.P., Knoke, J.D., Jacobs Jr., D.R., Bangdiwala, S., and Tyroler, H.A. 1989. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease: Four prospective American studies. *Circulation* 79:8-15.
- 33. 2002. Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation* 106:3143-3421.
- 34. Castelli, W.P. 1988. Cholesterol and lipids in the risk of coronary artery disease--the Framingham Heart Study. *Can J Cardiol* 4 Suppl A:5A-10A.
- 35. Francis, G.A. 2000. High density lipoprotein oxidation: In vitro susceptibility and potential in vivo consequences. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1483:217-235.
- 36. Barter, P.J., Nicholls, S., Rye, K.A., Anantharamaiah, G.M., Navab, M., and Fogelman, A.M. 2004. Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. *Circ Res* 95:764-772.
- 37. Glomset, J.A. 1968. The plasma lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase reaction. *Journal of Lipid Research* 9:155-167.
- 38. Oram, J.F. 2002. ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 and cholesterol trafficking. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 13:373-381.
- 39. Yancey, P.G., Bortnick, A.E., Kellner-Weibel, G., de la Llera-Moya, M., Phillips, M.C., and Rothblat, G.H. 2003. Importance of different pathways of cellular cholesterol efflux. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23:712-719.
- 40. Toth, P.P. 2005. High-density lipoprotein as a therapeutic target: clinical evidence and treatment strategies. *Am J Cardiol* 96:50K-58K; discussion 34K-35K.
- 41. Oram, J.F., and Lawn, R.M. 2001. ABCA1. The gatekeeper for eliminating excess tissue cholesterol. *Journal of Lipid Research* 42:1173-1179.
- 42. Schwartz, C.C., Halloran, L.G., Vlahcevic, Z.R., Gregory, D.H., and Swell, L. 1978. Preferential utilization of free cholesterol from high-density lipoproteins for biliary cholesterol secretion in man. *Science* 200:62-64.
- 43. Rubin, E.M., Krauss, R.M., Spangler, E.A., Verstuyft, J.G., and Clift, S.M. 1991. Inhibition of early atherogenesis in transgenic mice by human apolipoprotein AI. *Nature* 353:265-267.
- 44. Plump, A.S., Scott, C.J., and Breslow, J.L. 1994. Human apolipoprotein A-I gene expression increases high density lipoprotein and suppresses atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. *Proceedings of*

the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 91:9607-9611.

- 45. Paszty, C., Maeda, N., Verstuyft, J., and Rubin, E.M. 1994. Apolipoprotein A-I transgene corrects apolipoprotein E deficiency-induced atherosclerosis in mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 94:899-903.
- 46. Belalcazar, L.M., Merched, A., Carr, B., Oka, K., Chen, K.H., Pastore, L., Beaudet, A., and Chan, L. 2003. Long-term stable expression of human apolipoprotein A-I mediated by helper-dependent adenovirus gene transfer inhibits atherosclerosis progression and remodels atherosclerotic plaques in a mouse model of familial hypercholesterolemia. *Circulation* 107:2726-2732.
- 47. Duverger, N., Kruth, H., Emmanuel, F., Caillaud, J.M., Viglietta, C., Castro, G., Tailleux, A., Fievet, C., Fruchart, J.C., Houdebine, L.M., et al. 1996. Inhibition of atherosclerosis development in cholesterol-fed human apolipoprotein Al-transgenic rabbits. *Circulation* 94:713-717.
- 48. Badimon, J.J., Badimon, L., Galvez, A., Dische, R., and Fuster, V. 1989. High density lipoprotein plasma fractions inhibit aortic fatty streaks in cholesterol-fed rabbits. *Lab Invest* 60:455-461.
- 49. Badimon, J.J., Badimon, L., and Fuster, V. 1990. Regression of atherosclerotic lesions by high density lipoprotein fraction in the cholesterol-fed rabbit. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 85:1234-1241.
- 50. Miyazaki, A., Sakuma, S., Morikawa, W., and al., e. 1995. Intravenous injection of rabbit apolipoprotein A-I inhibits the progression of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 15:1882-1888.
- Nissen, S.E., Tsunoda, T., Tuzcu, E.M., Schoenhagen, P., Cooper, C.J., Yasin, M., Eaton, G.M., Lauer, M.A., Sheldon, W.S., Grines, C.L., et al. 2003. Effect of recombinant ApoA-I Milano on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama* 290:2292-2300.
- 52. Navab, M., Anantharamaiah, G.M., Hama, S., Garber, D.W., Chaddha, M., Hough, G., Lallone, R., and Fogelman, A.M. 2002. Oral administration of an Apo A-I mimetic Peptide synthesized from D-amino acids dramatically reduces atherosclerosis in mice independent of plasma cholesterol. *Circulation* 105:290-292.
- 53. Navab, M., Anantharamaiah, G.M., Reddy, S.T., Hama, S., Hough, G., Frank, J.S., Grijalva, V.R., Ganesh, V.K., Mishra, V.K., Palgunachari, M.N., et al. 2005. Oral small peptides render HDL antiinflammatory in mice and monkeys and reduce atherosclerosis in ApoE null mice. *Circ Res* 97:524-532.
- 54. Ashen, M.D., and Blumenthal, R.S. 2005. Clinical practice. Low HDL cholesterol levels. *N Engl J Med* 353:1252-1260.
- 55. Brousseau, M.E., Schaefer, E.J., Wolfe, M.L., Bloedon, L.T., Digenio, A.G., Clark, R.W., Mancuso, J.P., and Rader, D.J. 2004. Effects of an inhibitor of cholesteryl ester transfer protein on HDL cholesterol. *N Engl J Med* 350:1505-1515.

- 56. Srivastava, R.A.K., Tang, J., Krul, E.S., Pfleger, B., Kitchens, R.T., and Schonfeld, G. 1992. Dietary fatty acids and dietary cholesterol differ in their effect on the in vivo regulation of apolipoprotein A-I and A-II gene expression in inbred strains of mice. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1125:251-261.
- 57. Schaefer, E.J., Blum, C.B., Levy, R.I., Jenkins, L.L., Alaupovic, P., Foster, D.M., and Brewer, H.B.J. 1978. Metabolism of high-density lipoprotein apolipoproteins in Tangier disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 299:905-910.
- 58. Francis, G.A., Knopp, R.H., and Oram, J.F. 1995. Defective removal of cellular cholesterol and phospholipids by apolipoprotein A-I in Tangier Disease. *J Clin Invest* 96:78-87.
- 59. Walter, M., Gerdes, U., Seedorf, U., and Assmann, G. 1994. The high density lipoprotein- and apolipoprotein A-I-induced mobilization of cellular cholesterol is impaired in fibroblasts from Tangier disease subjects. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 205:850-856.
- 60. Remaley, A.T., Schumacher, U.K., Stonik, J.A., Farsi, B.D., Nazih, H., and Brewer, H.B., Jr. 1997. Decreased reverse cholesterol transport from Tangier disease fibroblasts. Acceptor specificity and effect of brefeldin on lipid efflux. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 17:1813-1821.
- Bodzioch, M., Orso, E., Klucken, J., Langmann, T., Bottcher, A., Diederich, W., Drobnik, W., Barlage, S., Buchler, C., Porsch-Ozcurumez, M., et al. 1999. The gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 is mutated in Tangier disease. *Nat Genet* 22:347-351.
- 62. Brooks-Wilson, A., Marcil, M., Clee, S.M., Zhang, L.H., Roomp, K., van Dam, M., Yu, L., Brewer, C., Collins, J.A., Molhuizen, H.O., et al. 1999. Mutations in ABC1 in Tangier disease and familial high-density lipoprotein deficiency. *Nat Genet* 22:336-345.
- 63. Rust, S., Rosier, M., Funke, H., Real, J., Amoura, Z., Piette, J.C., Deleuze, J.F., Brewer, H.B., Duverger, N., Denefle, P., et al. 1999. Tangier disease is caused by mutations in the gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1. *Nat Genet* 22:352-355.
- 64. Lawn, R.M., Wade, D.P., Garvin, M.R., Wang, X., Schwartz, K., Porter, J.G., Seilhamer, J.J., Vaughan, A.M., and Oram, J.F. 1999. The Tangier disease gene product ABC1 controls the cellular apolipoprotein-mediated lipid removal pathway. *J Clin Invest* 104:R25-31.
- Brousseau, M.E., Schaefer, E.J., Dupuis, J., Eustace, B., Van Eerdewegh, P., Goldkamp, A.L., Thurston, L.M., FitzGerald, M.G., Yasek-McKenna, D., O'Neill, G., et al. 2000. Novel mutations in the gene encoding ATPbinding cassette 1 in four tangier disease kindreds. *J Lipid Res* 41:433-441.
- 66. Dean, M., Hamon, Y., and Chimini, G. 2001. The human ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter superfamily. *J Lipid Res* 42:1007-1017.
- 67. Assmann, G., Von Eckardstein, A., and Brewer, H.B. 2001. Familial Analphalipoproteinemia: Tangier Disease. In *The Metabolic and Molecular*

Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed. C.R. Scriver, Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editor. New York: McGraw Hill Inc. 2937-2980.

- 68. Asztalos, B.F., Brousseau, M.E., McNamara, J.R., Horvath, K.V., Roheim, P.S., and Schaefer, E.J. 2001. Subpopulations of high density lipoproteins in homozygous and heterozygous Tangier disease. *Atherosclerosis* 156:217-225.
- 69. Serfaty-Lacrosniere, C., Civeira, F., Lanzberg, A., Isaia, P., Berg, J., Janus, E.D., Smith, M.P., Pritchard, P.H., Frohlich, J., Lees, R.S., et al. 1994. Homozygous Tangier disease and cardiovascular disease. *Atherosclerosis* 107:85-98.
- 70. Clee, S.M., Kastelein, J.J., van Dam, M., Marcil, M., Roomp, K., Zwarts, K.Y., Collins, J.A., Roelants, R., Tamasawa, N., Stulc, T., et al. 2000. Age and residual cholesterol efflux affect HDL cholesterol levels and coronary artery disease in ABCA1 heterozygotes. *J Clin Invest* 106:1263-1270.
- 71. Fitzgerald, M.L., Mendez, A.J., Moore, K.J., Andersson, L.P., Panjeton, H.A., and Freeman, M.W. 2001. ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 contains an NH2-terminal signal anchor sequence that translocates the protein's first hydrophilic domain to the exoplasmic space. *J Biol Chem* 276:15137-15145.
- 72. Oram, J.F., and Heinecke, J.W. 2005. ATP-binding cassette transporter A1: a cell cholesterol exporter that protects against cardiovascular disease. *Physiol Rev* 85:1343-1372.
- 73. Chen, W., Sun, Y., Welch, C., Gorelik, A., Leventhal, A.R., Tabas, I., and Tall, A.R. 2001. Preferential ATP-binding cassette transporter A1mediated cholesterol efflux from late endosomes/lysosomes. *J Biol Chem* 276:43564-43569.
- 74. Boadu, E., and Francis, G.A. 2006. The role of vesicular transport in ABCA1-dependent lipid efflux and its connection with NPC pathways. *J Mol Med* 84:266-275.
- 75. Yamauchi, Y., Chang, C.C., Hayashi, M., Abe-Dohmae, S., Reid, P.C., Chang, T.Y., and Yokoyama, S. 2004. Intracellular cholesterol mobilization involved in the ABCA1/apolipoprotein-mediated assembly of high density lipoprotein in fibroblasts. *J Lipid Res* 45:1943-1951.
- Langmann, T., Klucken, J., Reil, M., Liebisch, G., Luciani, M.F., Chimini, G., Kaminski, W.E., and Schmitz, G. 1999. Molecular cloning of the human ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 (hABC1): evidence for steroldependent regulation in macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 257:29-33.
- 77. Costet, P., Luo, Y., Wang, N., and Tall, A.R. 2000. Sterol-dependent transactivation of the ABC1 promoter by the liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor. *J Biol Chem* 275:28240-28245.
- 78. Schwartz, K., Lawn, R.M., and Wade, D.P. 2000. ABC1 gene expression and ApoA-I-mediated cholesterol efflux are regulated by LXR. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 274:794-802.
- 79. Francis, G.A., Annicotte, J.S., Auwerx, J. 2002. Liver X receptors: Xcreting Xol to combat atherosclerosis. *Trends in Molecular Medicine* 8:455-458.

- 80. Bortnick, A.E., Rothblat, G.H., Stoudt, G., Hoppe, K.L., Royer, L.J., McNeish, J., and Francone, O.L. 2000. The correlation of ATP-binding cassette 1 mRNA levels with cholesterol efflux from various cell lines. *J Biol Chem* 275:28634-28640.
- 81. Remaley, A.T., Stonik, J.A., Demosky, S.J., Neufeld, E.B., Bocharov, A.V., Vishnyakova, T.G., Eggerman, T.L., Patterson, A.P., Duverger, N.J., Santamarina-Fojo, S., et al. 2001. Apolipoprotein specificity for lipid efflux by the human ABCAI transporter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 280:818-823.
- 82. McNeish, J., Aiello, R.J., Guyot, D., Turi, T., Gabel, C., Aldinger, C., Hoppe, K.L., Roach, M.L., Royer, L.J., de Wet, J., et al. 2000. High density lipoprotein deficiency and foam cell accumulation in mice with targeted disruption of ATP-binding cassette transporter-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:4245-4250.
- Orso, E., Broccardo, C., Kaminski, W.E., Bottcher, A., Liebisch, G., Drobnik, W., Gotz, A., Chambenoit, O., Diederich, W., Langmann, T., et al. 2000. Transport of lipids from golgi to plasma membrane is defective in tangier disease patients and Abc1-deficient mice. *Nat Genet* 24:192-196.
- 84. Christiansen-Weber, T.A., Voland, J.R., Wu, Y., Ngo, K., Roland, B.L., Nguyen, S., Peterson, P.A., and Fung-Leung, W.P. 2000. Functional loss of ABCA1 in mice causes severe placental malformation, aberrant lipid distribution, and kidney glomerulonephritis as well as high-density lipoprotein cholesterol deficiency. *Am J Pathol* 157:1017-1029.
- Wellington, C.L., Walker, E.K., Suarez, A., Kwok, A., Bissada, N., Singaraja, R., Yang, Y.Z., Zhang, L.H., James, E., Wilson, J.E., et al. 2002. ABCA1 mRNA and protein distribution patterns predict multiple different roles and levels of regulation. *Lab Invest* 82:273-283.
- Zannis, V.I., Cole, F.S., Jackson, C.L., Kurnit, D.M., and Karathanasis, S.K. 1985. Distribution of apolipoprotein A-I, C-II, C-III and E mRNA in fetal human tissues. Time-dependent induction of apolipoprotein E mRNA by cultures of human monocyte-macrophages. *Biochemistry* 24:4450-4455.
- 87. Elshourbagy, N.A., Boguski, M.S., Liao, W.S., Jefferson, L.S., Gordon, J.I., and Taylor, J.M. 1985. Expression of rat apolipoprotein A-IV and A-I genes: mRNA induction during development and in response to glucocorticoids and insulin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82:8242-8246.
- 88. Timmins, J.M., Lee, J.Y., Boudyguina, E., Kluckman, K.D., Brunham, L.R., Mulya, A., Gebre, A.K., Coutinho, J.M., Colvin, P.L., Smith, T.L., et al. 2005. Targeted inactivation of hepatic Abca1 causes profound hypoalphalipoproteinemia and kidney hypercatabolism of apoA-I. *J Clin Invest* 115:1333-1342.
- 89. Sahoo, D., Trischuk, T.C., Chan, T., Drover, V.A., Ho, S., Chimini, G., Agellon, L.B., Agnihotri, R., Francis, G.A., and Lehner, R. 2004. ABCA1dependent lipid efflux to apolipoprotein A-I mediates HDL particle formation and decreases VLDL secretion from murine hepatocytes. *J Lipid Res* 45:1122-1131.

- 90. Aiello, R.J., Brees, D., Bourassa, P.A., Royer, L., Lindsey, S., Coskran, T., Haghpassand, M., and Francone, O.L. 2002. Increased atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice with inactivation of ABCA1 in macrophages. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 22:630-637.
- 91. van Eck, M., Bos, I.S., Kaminski, W.E., Orso, E., Rothe, G., Twisk, J., Bottcher, A., Van Amersfoort, E.S., Christiansen-Weber, T.A., Fung-Leung, W.P., et al. 2002. Leukocyte ABCA1 controls susceptibility to atherosclerosis and macrophage recruitment into tissues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99:6298-6303.
- 92. Haghpassand, M., Bourassa, P.A., Francone, O.L., and Aiello, R.J. 2001. Monocyte/macrophage expression of ABCA1 has minimal contribution to plasma HDL levels. *J Clin Invest* 108:1315-1320.
- 93. Oram, J.F., Lawn, R.M., Garvin, M.R., and Wade, D.P. 2000. ABCA1 is the cAMP-inducible apolipoprotein receptor that mediates cholesterol secretion from macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 275:34508-34511.
- 94. Wang, N., Silver, D.L., Thiele, C., and Tall, A.R. 2001. ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) functions as a cholesterol efflux regulatory protein. *J Biol Chem* 276:23742-23747.
- 95. Ngeth, S., and Francis, G.A. 2006. Howdy Partner: ApolipoproteinA-I-ABCA1 Interactions Mediating HDL Particle Formation. In *Biochemistry of Atheroslcerosis*. S.K. Cheema, editor. New York: Springer.
- 96. Hamon, Y., Broccardo, C., Chambenoit, O., Luciani, M.F., Toti, F., Chaslin, S., Freyssinet, J.M., Devaux, P.F., McNeish, J., Marguet, D., et al. 2000. ABC1 promotes engulfment of apoptotic cells and transbilayer redistribution of phosphatidylserine. *Nat Cell Biol* 2:399-406.
- 97. Lin, G., and Oram, J.F. 2000. Apolipoprotein binding to protruding membrane domains during removal of excess cellular cholesterol. *Atherosclerosis* 149:359-370.
- 98. Wang, N., Silver, D.L., Costet, P., and Tall, A.R. 2000. Specific binding of ApoA-I, enhanced cholesterol efflux, and altered plasma membrane morphology in cells expressing ABC1. *J Biol Chem* 275:33053-33058.
- 99. Vaughan, A.M., and Oram, J.F. 2003. ABCA1 redistributes membrane cholesterol independent of apolipoprotein interactions. *J Lipid Res* 44:1373-1380.
- 100. Gillotte, K.L., Davidson, W.S., Lund-Katz, S., Rothblat, G.H., and Phillips, M.C. 1998. Removal of cellular cholesterol by pre-beta-HDL involves plasma membrane microsolubilization. *Journal of Lipid Research* 39:1918-1928.
- 101. Chambenoit, O., Hamon, Y., Marguet, D., Rigneault, H., Rosseneu, M., and Chimini, G. 2001. Specific docking of apolipoprotein A-I at the cell surface requires a functional ABCA1 transporter. *J Biol Chem* 276:9955-9960.
- 102. Duong, P.T., Collins, H.L., Nickel, M., Lund-Katz, S., Rothblat, G.H., and Phillips, M.C. 2006. Characterization of nascent HDL particles and

microparticles formed by ABCA1-mediated efflux of cellular lipids to apoA-I. *J Lipid Res* 47:832-843.

- 103. Rigot, V., Hamon, Y., Chambenoit, O., Alibert, M., Duverger, N., and Chimini, G. 2002. Distinct sites on ABCA1 control distinct steps required for cellular release of phospholipids. *J Lipid Res* 43:2077-2086.
- 104. Smith, J.D., Waelde, C., Horwitz, A., and Zheng, P. 2002. Evaluation of the role of phosphatidylserine translocase activity in ABCA1-mediated lipid efflux. *J Biol Chem* 277:17797-17803.
- 105. Denis, M., Haidar, B., Marcil, M., Bouvier, M., Krimbou, L., and Genest, J., Jr. 2004. Molecular and cellular physiology of apolipoprotein A-I lipidation by the ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1). *J Biol Chem* 279:7384-7394.
- 106. Fitzgerald, M.L., Morris, A.L., Chroni, A., Mendez, A.J., Zannis, V.I., and Freeman, M.W. 2004. ABCA1 and amphipathic apolipoproteins form high-affinity molecular complexes required for cholesterol efflux. *J Lipid Res* 45:287-294.
- 107. Fitzgerald, M.L., Morris, A.L., Rhee, J.S., Andersson, L.P., Mendez, A.J., and Freeman, M.W. 2002. Naturally occurring mutations in the largest extracellular loops of ABCA1 can disrupt its direct interaction with apolipoprotein A-I. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:33178-33187.
- Chroni, A., Liu, T., Fitzgerald, M.L., Freeman, M.W., and Zannis, V.I.
 2004. Cross-linking and lipid efflux properties of apoA-I mutants suggest direct association between apoA-I helices and ABCA1. *Biochemistry* 43:2126-2139.
- 109. Denis, M., Haidar, B., Marcil, M., Bouvier, M., Krimbou, L., and Genest, J. 2004. Characterization of oligomeric human ATP binding cassette transporter A1. Potential implications for determining the structure of nascent high density lipoprotein particles. *J Biol Chem* 279:41529-41536.
- 110. Panagotopulos, S.E., Witting, S.R., Horace, E.M., Hui, D.Y., Maiorano, J.N., and Davidson, W.S. 2002. The role of apolipoprotein A-I helix 10 in apolipoprotein-mediated cholesterol efflux via the ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCA1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:39477-39484.
- 111. Arakawa, R., and Yokoyama, S. 2002. Helical apolipoproteins stabilize ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 by protecting it from thiol proteasemediated degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:22426-22429.
- 112. Wang, N., Chen, W., Linsel-Nitschke, P., Martinez, L.O., Agerholm-Larsen, B., Silver, D.L., and Tall, A.R. 2003. A PEST sequence in ABCA1 regulates degradation by calpain protease and stabilization of ABCA1 by apoA-I. *J Clin Invest* 111:99-107.
- 113. Martinez, L.O., Agerholm-Larsen, B., Wang, N., Chen, W., and Tall, A.R. 2003. Phosphorylation of a pest sequence in ABCA1 promotes calpain degradation and is reversed by ApoA-I. *J Biol Chem* 278:37368-37374.
- 114. Wang, N., and Tall, A.R. 2003. Regulation and mechanisms of ATPbinding cassette transporter A1-mediated cellular cholesterol efflux. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23:1178-1184.

- 115. Chen, W., Wang, N., and Tall, A.R. 2005. A PEST deletion mutant of ABCA1 shows impaired internalization and defective cholesterol efflux from late endosomes. *J Biol Chem* 280:29277-29281.
- 116. Okuhira, K., Tsujita, M., Yamauchi, Y., Abe-Dohmae, S., Kato, K., Handa, T., and Yokoyama, S. 2004. Potential involvement of dissociated apoA-I in the ABCA1-dependent cellular lipid release by HDL. *J Lipid Res* 45:645-652.
- 117. Wang, N., Lan, D., Chen, W., Matsuura, F., and Tall, A.R. 2004. ATPbinding cassette transporters G1 and G4 mediate cellular cholesterol efflux to high-density lipoproteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:9774-9779.
- 118. Nakamura, K., Kennedy, M.A., Baldan, A., Bojanic, D.D., Lyons, K., and Edwards, P.A. 2004. Expression and regulation of multiple murine ATPbinding cassette transporter G1 mRNAs/isoforms that stimulate cellular cholesterol efflux to high density lipoprotein. *J Biol Chem* 279:45980-45989.
- 119. Kennedy, M.A., Barrera, G.C., Nakamura, K., Baldan, A., Tarr, P., Fishbein, M.C., Frank, J., Francone, O.L., and Edwards, P.A. 2005. ABCG1 has a critical role in mediating cholesterol efflux to HDL and preventing cellular lipid accumulation. *Cell Metab* 1:121-131.
- 120. Francis, G.A., Fayard, E., Picard, F., and Auwerx, J. 2003. Nuclear receptors and the control of metabolism. *Annual Review of Physiology* 65:261-311.
- 121. Sparrow, C.P., Baffic, J., Lam, M.H., Lund, E.G., Adams, A.D., Fu, X., Hayes, N., Jones, A.B., Macnaul, K.L., Ondeyka, J., et al. 2002. A potent synthetic LXR agonist is more effective than cholesterol loading at inducing ABCA1 mRNA and stimulating cholesterol efflux. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:10021-10027.
- 122. Joseph, S.B., McKilligin, E., Pei, L., Watson, M.A., Collins, A.R., Laffitte, B.A., Chen, M., Noh, G., Goodman, J., Hagger, G.N., et al. 2002. Synthetic LXR ligand inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99:7604-7609.
- Naik, S.U., Wang, X., Da Silva, J.S., Jaye, M., Macphee, C.H., Reilly, M.P., Billheimer, J.T., Rothblat, G.H., and Rader, D.J. 2006. Pharmacological activation of liver X receptors promotes reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *Circulation* 113:90-97.
- 124. Terasaka, N., Hiroshima, A., Koieyama, T., Ubukata, N., Morikawa, Y., Nakai, D., and Inaba, T. 2003. T-0901317, a synthetic liver X receptor ligand, inhibits development of atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice. *FEBS Lett* 536:6-11.
- 125. Repa, J.J., Liang, G., Ou, J., Bashmakov, Y., Lobaccaro, J.M., Shimomura, I., Shan, B., Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L., and Mangelsdorf, D.J. 2000. Regulation of mouse sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c gene (SREBP-1c) by oxysterol receptors, LXRalpha and LXRbeta. *Genes Dev* 14:2819-2830.

- 126. Schultz, J.R., Tu, H., Luk, A., Repa, J.J., Medina, J.C., Li, L., Schwendner, S., Wang, S., Thoolen, M., Mangelsdorf, D.J., et al. 2000. Role of LXRs in control of lipogenesis. *Genes Dev* 14:2831-2838.
- 127. Kalaany, N.Y., and Mangelsdorf, D.J. 2006. LXRS and FXR: the yin and yang of cholesterol and fat metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol* 68:159-191.
- 128. Heinecke, J.W. 1998. Oxidants and antioxidants in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: implications for the oxidized low density lipoprotein hypothesis. *Atherosclerosis* 141:1-15.
- 129. Maor, I., and Aviram, M. 1994. Oxidized low density lipoprotein leads to macrophage accumulation of unesterified cholesterol as a result of lysosomal trapping of the lipoprotein hydrolyzed cholesteryl ester. *J Lipid Res* 35:803-819.
- 130. Ryu, B.H., Mao, F.W., Lou, P., Gutman, R.L., and Greenspan, P. 1995. Cholesteryl ester accumulation in macrophages treated with oxidized low density lipoprotein. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 59:1619-1622.
- 131. Goldstein, J.L., Ho, Y.K., Basu, S.K., and Brown, M.S. 1979. Binding site on macrophages that mediates uptake and degradation of aceytlated low density lipoprotein, producing massive cholesterol deposition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 76:333-337.
- 132. Mertens, A., and Holvoet, P. 2001. Oxidized LDL and HDL: antagonists in atherothrombosis. *Faseb J* 15:2073-2084.
- 133. Horiuchi, S., Sakamoto, Y., and Sakai, M. 2003. Scavenger receptors for oxidized and glycated proteins. *Amino Acids* 25:283-292.
- 134. Steinbrecher, U.P. 1999. Receptors for oxidized low density lipoprotein. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1436:279-298.
- 135. Stocker, R., and Keaney, J.F., Jr. 2004. Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. *Physiol Rev* 84:1381-1478.
- 136. Heinecke, J.W., Li, W., Francis, G.A., and Goldstein, J.A. 1993. Tyrosyl radical generated by myeloperoxidase catalyzes the oxidative crosslinking of proteins. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 91:2866-2872.
- 137. Aeschbach, R., Amada, R., and Neukom, H. 1976. Formation of dityrosine cross-links in proteins by oxidation of tyrosine residues. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 439:292-301.
- 138. Briza, P., Winkler, G., Kalchhauser, H., and Breitenbach, M. 1986. Dityrosine is a prominent component of the yeast ascospore wall. A proof of its structure. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261:4288-4294.
- 139. Heinecke, J.W. 1997. Pathways for oxidation of low density lipoprotein by myeloperoxidase: tyrosyl radical, reactive aldehydes, hypochlorous acid and molecular chlorine. *Biofactors* 6:145-155.
- 140. Daugherty, A., Rateri, A.L., Dunn, J.L., and Heinecke, J.W. 1994. Myeloperoxidase, a catalyst for lipoprotein oxidation, is expressed in human atherosclerotic lesions. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 94:437-444.
- 141. Harrison, J.E., and Schultz, J. 1976. Studies on the chlorinating activity of myeloperoxidase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 251:1371-1374.

- 142. Hazell, L.J., Arnold, L., Flowers, D., Waeg, G., Malle, E., and Stocker, R. 1996. Presence of hypochlorite-modified proteins in human atherosclerotic lesions. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 97:1535-1544.
- 143. Hazen, S., and Heinecke, J. 1997. 3-Chlorotyrosine, a specific marker of myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation, is markedly elevated in low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic intima. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 99:2075-2081.
- 144. Leeuwenburgh, C., Rasmussen, J.E., Hsu, F.F., Mueller, D.M., Pennathur, S., and Heinecke, J.W. 1997. Mass spectrometric quantification of markers for protein oxidation by tyrosyl radical, copper, and hydroxyl radical in low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272:3520-3526.
- 145. Parthasarathy, S., Barnett, J., and Fong, L.G. 1990. High density lipoprotein inhibits the oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1044:275-283.
- 146. Cogny, A., Atger, V., Paul, J.L., Soni, T., and Moatti, N. 1996. High-density lipoprotein 3 physicochemical modifications induced by interaction with human polymorphonuclear leucocytes affect their ability to remove cholesterol from cells. *Biochemical Journal* 314:285-292.
- 147. Gesquière, L., Loreau, N., and Blache, D. 1997. Impaired cellular cholesterol efflux by oxysterol-enriched high density lipoproteins. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 23:541-547.
- 148. Bonnefont-Rousselot, D., Mota, C., Khalil, A.O., R., S., La Ville, A.E., Delattre, J., and Gardes-Albert, M. 1995. Physiochemical changes in human high density lipoprotein oxidized by gamma radiolysis-generated oxyradicals. Effect on their cholesterol effluxing capacity. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1255:23-30.
- 149. Morel, D.W. 1994. Reduced cholesterol efflux to mildly oxidized high density lipoprotein. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 200:408-416.
- 150. Panzenboeck, U., Raitmayer, S., Reicher, H., Lindner, H., Glatter, O., Malle, E., and Sattler, W. 1997. Effects of reagent and enzymatically generated hypochlorite on physicochemical and metabolic properties of high density lipoproteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272:29711-29720.
- 151. Rifici, V., and Khachadurian, A. 1996. Oxidation of high density lipoproteins: characterization and effects on cholesterol efflux from J774 macrophages. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1299:87-94.
- 152. Salmon, S., Maziere, C., Auclair, M., Theron, L., Santus, R., and Maziere, J.C. 1992. Malondialdehyde modification and copper-induced autooxidation of high density lipoprotein decrease cholesterol efflux from human cultured fibroblasts. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1125:230-235.
- 153. Shao, B., Bergt, C., Fu, X., Green, P., Voss, J.C., Oda, M.N., Oram, J.F., and Heinecke, J.W. 2005. Tyrosine 192 in apolipoprotein A-I is the major site of nitration and chlorination by myeloperoxidase, but only chlorination

markedly impairs ABCA1-dependent cholesterol transport. *J Biol Chem* 280:5983-5993.

- 154. Bergt, C., Pennathur, S., Fu, X., Byun, J., O'Brien, K., McDonald, T.O., Singh, P., Anantharamaiah, G.M., Chait, A., Brunzell, J., et al. 2004. The myeloperoxidase product hypochlorous acid oxidizes HDL in the human artery wall and impairs ABCA1-dependent cholesterol transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:13032-13037.
- 155. Francis, G.A., Mendez, A.J., Bierman, E.L., and Heinecke, J.W. 1993. Oxidative tyrosylation of high density lipoprotein by peroxidase enhances cholesterol removal from cultured fibroblasts and macrophage foam cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:6631-6635.
- 156. Francis, G.A., Oram, J.F., Heinecke, J.W., and Bierman, E.L. 1996. Oxidative tyrosylation of HDL enhances the depletion of cellular cholesteryl esters by a mechanism independent of passive sterol desorption. *Biochemistry* 35:15188-15197.
- 157. Wang, W.Q., Merriam, D.L., Moses, A.S., and Francis, G.A. 1998. Enhanced cholesterol efflux by tyrosyl radical-oxidized high density lipoprotein is mediated by apolipoprotein AI-AII heterodimers. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273:17391-17398.
- Macdonald, D.L., Terry, T.L., Agellon, L.B., Nation, P.N., and Francis, G.A. 2003. Administration of Tyrosyl Radical-Oxidized HDL Inhibits the Development of Atherosclerosis in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23:1583-1588.
- 159. Chung, B.H., Wilkinson, T., Geer, J.C., and Segrest, J.P. 1980. Preparative and quantitative isolation of plasma lipoproteins: rapid, single discontinuous density gradient ultracentrifugation in a vertical rotor. *J Lipid Res* 21:284-291.
- 160. Weisgraber, K.H., and Mahley, R.W. 1980. Subfractionation of human high density lipoproteins by heparin-Sepharose affinity chromatography. *J Lipid Res* 21:316-325.
- 161. Yokoyama, S., Tajima, S., and Yamamoto, A. 1982. The process of dissolving apolipoprotein A-I in an aqueous buffer. *J Biochem (Tokyo)* 91:1267-1272.
- 162. Mendez, A.J., and Oram, J.F. 1997. Limited proteolysis of high density lipoprotein abolishes its interaction with cell-surface binding sites that promote cholesterol efflux. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1346:285-299.
- 163. Francis, G.A., Tsujita, M., and Terry, T.L. 1999. Apolipoprotein Al efficiently binds to and mediates cholesterol and phospholipid efflux from human but not rat aortic smooth muscle cells. *Biochemistry* 38:16315-16322.
- 164. Lowry, O.H., Rosebrough, N.J., Farr, A.L., and Randall, R.J. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *J Biol Chem* 193:265-275.
- 165. Chomczynski, P., and Sacchi, N. 1987. Single step method for RNA isolation by acid guanidinium-thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Analytical Biochemistry* 162:156-159.

- 166. Castro, G.R., and Fielding, C.J. 1988. Early incorporation of cell-derived cholesterol into pre-beta-migrating high density lipoprotein. *Biochemistry* 27:25-29.
- Cummins, C.L., Volle, D.H., Zhang, Y., McDonald, J.G., Sion, B., Lefrancois-Martinez, A.M., Caira, F., Veyssiere, G., Mangelsdorf, D.J., and Lobaccaro, J.M. 2006. Liver X receptors regulate adrenal cholesterol balance. *J Clin Invest* 116:1902-1912.
- 168. Haidar, B., Denis, M., Marcil, M., Krimbou, L., and Genest, J., Jr. 2004. Apolipoprotein A-I activates cellular cAMP signaling through the ABCA1 transporter. *J Biol Chem* 279:9963-9969.
- 169. Yamauchi, Y., Hayashi, M., Abe-Dohmae, S., and Yokoyama, S. 2003. Apolipoprotein A-I activates protein kinase C alpha signaling to phosphorylate and stabilize ATP binding cassette transporter A1 for the high density lipoprotein assembly. *J Biol Chem* 278:47890-47897.
- 170. Tang, C., Vaughan, A.M., and Oram, J.F. 2004. Janus kinase 2 modulates the apolipoprotein interactions with ABCA1 required for removing cellular cholesterol. *J Biol Chem* 279:7622-7628.
- 171. Tang, C., Vaughan, A.M., Anantharamaiah, G.M., and Oram, J.F. 2006. Janus kinase 2 modulates the lipid-removing but not protein-stabilizing interactions of amphipathic helices with ABCA1. *J Lipid Res* 47:107-114.
- 172. Navab, M., Anantharamaiah, G., Reddy, S.T., Van Lenten, B.J., Datta, G., Garber, D., and Fogelman, A.M. 2006. Potential clinical utility of highdensity lipoprotein-mimetic peptides. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 17:440-444.